#### Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jiec

# Review

# A comprehensive review on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control in enhanced oil recovery: Recent advances and future outlook

Emanuel X. Ricky <sup>a,b</sup>, Grant Charles Mwakipunda <sup>a</sup>, Edwin E. Nyakilla <sup>a</sup>, Naswibu A. Kasimu <sup>a,b</sup>, Chao Wang <sup>c</sup>, Xingguang Xu <sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Key Laboratory of Tectonics and Petroleum Resources, Ministry of Education, China University of Geosciences (Wuhan), Wuhan 430074, China <sup>b</sup> Department of Chemistry, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, P.O. Box 35061, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

<sup>c</sup> Engineering Technology Institute, Research Institute of Petroleum Exploration & Development, Beijing 100083, China

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 February 2023 Revised 26 May 2023 Accepted 9 June 2023 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Enhanced oil recovery CO<sub>2</sub> flooding CO<sub>2</sub> thickener CO<sub>2</sub> mobility Polymer Surfactant

#### ABSTRACT

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) has been utilized to recover the residual oil from the geological reservoirs through enhanced oil recovery (EOR) methods for over 50 years. Despite its long history of success as an EOR technique, CO<sub>2</sub> flooding recovers only about 20–40% of the original oil in place (OOIP) from the geological reservoirs. The small amount of oil recovered by CO<sub>2</sub> flooding is associated with the low viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> injected into the reservoir, resulting in CO<sub>2</sub> viscous fingering, CO<sub>2</sub> gravity override and unfavourable mobility. To address these problems, the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity needs to be enhanced considerably using CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners or viscosifiers. Despite more than five decades of intensive research work in formulating and identifying effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners such as polymers, surfactants, small molecules and nanoparticles; as yet none of these chemicals can be regarded as effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications. Thus, CO<sub>2</sub> thickener is an interesting research topic for future studies to come up with effective and affordable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications. This article presents the recent developments in CO<sub>2</sub> thickening technologies in EOR. Furthermore, the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening mechanisms, screening criteria, field scale applications, challenges and future research directions on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners are evaluated.

© 2023 The Korean Society of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction
Background of CO <sub>2</sub> -EOR
Mechanism of CO <sub>2</sub> -EOR
Problems associated with CO <sub>2</sub> flooding
CO <sub>2</sub> thickener candidates
Polymeric CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners
Fluorinated polymers
Siloxane polymers
Hydrocarbon polymers
Oxygenated hydrocarbon polymers
Nitrogen-based polymers
Polymeric CO <sub>2</sub> thickening mechanism
Factors affecting polymeric CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners
Small molecule $CO_2$ thickeners
Branched benzene trisurea
12-Hydroxystearic acid
Fluorinated and non-fluorinated bisureas

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: xuxingguang@cug.edu.cn (X. Xu).

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2023.06.018

1226-086X/© 2023 The Korean Society of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Please cite this article as: E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al., A comprehensive review on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control in enhanced oil recovery: Recent advances and future outlook, Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2023.06.018

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

Trialkyltin fluorides	00
Hydroxyaluminum disoaps	00
Cross-linked phosphate esters (CPE)	00
Surfactant CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners	. 00
Fluorinated surfactants	00
Amine surfactants	00
Oxygenated surfactants	00
Nanoparticle $CO_2$ thickeners	00
Comparison between CO <sub>2</sub> thickening technologies	00
Field-scale application of CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners.	00
Screening criteria for designing CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners	00
Challenges facing CO <sub>2</sub> thickening technologies	00
Future research directions on CO <sub>2</sub> thickeners	00
Conclusion	00
Declaration of Competing Interest	00
Acknowledgements	00
References	00

#### Introduction

Oil and natural gas are very important sources of energy in the world to produce heat, transportation fuels and electricity [1]. Currently, global energy consumption is increasing rapidly while the existing oil and natural gas reserves are being exhausted day to day [2–4]. This has necessitated the oil and gas industry to develop new methods to recover more oil and gas from matured oil fields or conventionally inaccessible reservoirs [2,5,6]. The oil recovery processes have been typically divided into three stages such as primary, secondary and tertiary oil recovery [7–9]. Typically, only a fraction (5-20%) of the original oil in place (OOIP) can be recovered from the geological reservoirs using primary oil recovery methods [5,10], whereas the secondary oil recovery methods can only exploit about 20-40% of the OOIP [11,12]. When the secondary oil recovery methods are no longer effective, the artificial methods of oil recovery called tertiary oil recovery or enhanced oil recovery (EOR) are utilized to increase the recovery of the residual oil from the geological reservoirs beyond the limit recoverable by primary and secondary oil recovery methods [7,13].

EOR involves the use of external materials or energy to recover the oil that cannot be generated economically using traditional methods or the natural energy of the reservoirs [8,14,15]. The EOR techniques help to boost the reservoir energy, reduce the interfacial tension (IFT) between the displacing fluid (CO<sub>2</sub>) and displaced fluid (oil), increase the viscosity of the displacing fluids, reduce the capillary forces and reduce the oil viscosity [16–19]. However, the primary objective of EOR techniques is to improve the volumetric displacement efficiency of the residual oil in the reservoir via the injection of materials that are not usually present in the reservoir and increase the oil production at an economically feasible production rate [7,20,21]. The EOR techniques are mainly divided into four major groups including chemical flooding, thermal flooding, gas flooding, and microbial-enhanced oil recovery (MEOR) [11,20,22,23]. Among these techniques, gas flooding and thermal flooding techniques are widely used because they are the most technically and economically viable EOR methods [14,24]. In gas flooding (i.e., CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>), CO<sub>2</sub> flooding is the most popular and extensively utilized EOR technique [2,25-33]. Despite its historical success, the CO<sub>2</sub> flooding method yet does not recover completely the original oil in place [34]. The insufficient amount of oil recovered by the CO<sub>2</sub> flooding method is associated with the low viscosity and density of CO<sub>2</sub> injected into the reservoir [35,36]. The low density and viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> results in CO<sub>2</sub> viscous fingering, CO<sub>2</sub> gravity override and unfavourable mobility which reduces the oil recovery [37–39]. These problems

have prompted researchers in the oil industry to develop mitigation methods to enhance the performance of  $CO_2$  flooding in EOR. Currently, the application of  $CO_2$  thickeners or viscosifiers such as polymers, surfactants, small molecules and nanoparticles is the only known mitigation method to solve the problem of low density and viscosity of  $CO_2$  [40]. The  $CO_2$  thickeners are not only aimed at increasing the viscosity of  $CO_2$  but also to improve the mobility of  $CO_2$  during EOR and increase the oil recovery.

The objective of this work is to review previous and current research developments in  $CO_2$  thickening technologies and provides future research directions on  $CO_2$  thickeners. The uniqueness of this work is that the mechanisms of  $CO_2$  thickening, screening criteria for selecting or designing  $CO_2$  thickeners, challenges facing  $CO_2$  thickeners are described in detail. Besides, the  $CO_2$  thickeners are classified based on their chemical composition or functional groups, and both available laboratory and field research findings on  $CO_2$  thickeners are reported and analysed. Therefore, this review paper is expected to provide a comprehensive understanding of  $CO_2$  thickeners or  $CO_2$  thickening technologies and serves as a guide for selecting or designing effective and affordable  $CO_2$  thickeners for EOR field applications. The main sections of this article are presented using a flowchart as shown in Fig. 1.

#### Background of CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR

CO<sub>2</sub> has been employed to recover the residual oil from geological reservoirs for more than five decades [10,41-43]. The first patent on CO2-EOR technology was awarded to Whorton, Brownscombe and Dyes of the Atlantic Refining Company in 1952 [44]. The first commercial CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR field application was pioneered in the early 1970s in the Kelly-Snider oil field in West Texas and continues to be the world's largest CO<sub>2</sub> miscible flooding project until today [45-49]. The amount of CO<sub>2</sub> currently used for EOR operations ranges from 65 to 72 million tonnes per year [46]. The number of CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects in the United States of America (USA) alone between 1972 and 2014 was reported to be 128 projects, of which 104 were successful by 81% [45]. The USA produces a significant amount of its oil using the CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR method. Currently, 280,000 barrels of oil per day are produced from CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR, which is over 5% of the total US crude oil production [50]. The next generation CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR target is to increase oil production to 67-137 billion barrels [46]. To meet this target, a substantial improvement in the CO<sub>2</sub> flooding method is inevitable to recover more oil beyond 10-20% of the OOIP currently being recovered by the conventional  $CO_2$ -EOR technology [49,50]. Recently, the  $CO_2$  flooding method



Fig 1. Flowchart showing the main sections discussed in this work.

has become technically and economically very attractive worldwide [5,14,50,51]. The important properties that make CO<sub>2</sub> more attractive and an ideal gas for EOR operations include its availability in large quantities from natural and anthropogenic sources, it is less expensive, highly soluble in crude oil, and non-flammable and non-toxic gas [52–61]. Also, the CO<sub>2</sub> exists in a gaseous state at

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx



Fig. 2. Mechanism of CO<sub>2</sub> miscible flooding during enhanced oil recovery.



Fig. 3. A scheme of CO<sub>2</sub> viscous fingering (a), early CO<sub>2</sub> breakthrough (b) and controlled CO<sub>2</sub> mobility (c).

standard temperature and pressure; thus, it can be easily separated from the crude oil after the EOR operation by releasing the pressure.

#### Mechanism of CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR

The performance of CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR depends on crude oil composition, reservoir temperature and pressure. CO<sub>2</sub> flooding is commonly used for mobilizing light oil components from geological reservoirs

[62]. When  $CO_2$  is injected into an oil reservoir, it tends to develop miscibility and becomes soluble with the residual oil in place [63]. The dissolution of  $CO_2$  in crude oil leads to a reduction in crude oil viscosity and interfacial tension [5,64–66]. The dissolved  $CO_2$  swells the oil which in turn increases the volume and relative permeability of the residual oil in the reservoir rock pores [65,67,68]. When the reservoir pressure is above the minimum miscibility pressure (MMP), the viscosity of the crude oil in the reservoir rock is significantly reduced by  $CO_2$  saturation and the residual oil is



Fig. 4. Distribution of the research effort spent on various types of  $CO_2$  thickeners over the past 50 years.

ultimately accelerated towards the production well by  $CO_2$  [69] (Fig. 2).

#### Problems associated with CO<sub>2</sub> flooding

The most serious challenge that limits the wide applicability of  $CO_2$  in EOR operations is the low viscosity of  $CO_2$  [70,71]. The viscosity of liquid CO<sub>2</sub> at reservoir conditions ranges from 0.03 to 0.10 cp, while that of crude oil ranges from 0.1 to 50 cp [72–74]. Thus, this indicates that the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> is lower compared to that of crude oil by over one order of magnitude [75,76]. Since the relative permeability of CO<sub>2</sub> and crude oil are comparable in magnitude, the viscosity ratio between displacing fluid (CO<sub>2</sub>) and displaced fluid (crude oil) leads to an unfavourable mobility ratio (mobility > 1) [52,77]. The unfavourable mobility ratio between  $CO_2$ and crude oil results in CO<sub>2</sub> viscous fingering (Fig. 3a) and early  $CO_2$  breakthrough (Fig. 3b) which reduces the oil recovery [40,78-81]. The mobility ratio between CO<sub>2</sub> and crude oil can be reduced or improved by enhancing the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> using CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners to the extent that the mobility < 1 (favourable) is achieved and the CO<sub>2</sub> viscous fingering is reduced (Fig. 3c) while the oil recovery is increased [27,82].

#### CO<sub>2</sub> thickener candidates

Several reservoir treatment technologies including the use of CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners have been suggested in previous studies for enhancing CO<sub>2</sub> flooding efficiency. The initiatives of finding appropriate CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners have started since the year 1970s until today [50,83]. Several attempts have been conducted in identifying suitable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners which can improve the mobility ratio between CO<sub>2</sub> and crude oil during EOR operations. Heller and Taber [84] were the first researchers to study and report the findings on the use of direct thickeners for mobility control of liquid CO<sub>2</sub>. In one of their studies, they tested 53 chemical compounds as CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners. Their findings revealed that only 17 chemical compounds out of 53 were soluble in  $CO_2$  with minor viscosification [35,72,85]. In another attempt, Llave and coworkers have used entrainers/co-solvents such as n-decanol, ethoxylated alcohols, isooctane, 2-ethyl hexanol, hexane, acetone, ethanol, acetonitrile, ethyl acetate, ether and chloroform to increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> [75,86]. From their findings, they discovered that the entrainers alone are not effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners; however, if they are used together with other thickeners such as polymers they can increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> [87]. Generally, the basic approach to increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> is to use CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners which would dissolve in  $CO_2$  at actual reservoir conditions [88–90]. Based

on the molecular structure of thickeners and their thickening mechanism, CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners are categorized as polymers, surfactants. small molecule compounds and nanoparticles [50,70,85,91]. The research effort spent on various types of CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners since 1970s is presented in Fig. 4 and implies that polymers are the most commonly studied and successful CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners as compared to other thickeners. This is because polymers form thermodynamically stable single-phase solutions with a viscosity slightly higher than that of crude oil at reservoir conditions [37,92,93]. Since the molecular structure and mechanism of action of one type of CO<sub>2</sub> thickener is different from other types, in this study each type of CO<sub>2</sub> thickener is treated separately as described in subsections 3.1 to 3.4.

#### Polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

The application of polymeric thickeners is one of the fundamental methods to increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> [94]. The CO<sub>2</sub> thickening properties of polymeric compounds have been investigated continuously since the year 1970 s [50,83]. Several attempts have been made in finding appropriate polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners [66,70,75]. Enick and co-workers have published a comprehensive review based on the studies which have attempted to thicken CO<sub>2</sub> using several chemical compounds including polymers for more than four decades [50]. Previous literature reported that polymeric thickeners are more promising than other methods because of the stability of CO<sub>2</sub>-polymer solution under the actual reservoir conditions [95,96]. Several polymeric compounds have been investigated as direct CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners [97]. However, polymers with heteroatoms such as oxygen (O), nitrogen (N), silicon (Si) and halogens (i.e., fluorine (F)) are reported as effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners because they are more CO<sub>2</sub>-philic as compared to polymers with carbon and hydrogen atoms only [98,99]. Based on the presence of heteroatom in the polymer chain, in this study, the CO<sub>2</sub> polymeric thickeners are classified as fluorinated polymers, silicone polymers, oxygenated hydrocarbon polymers and nitrogen polymers as described in subsection 3.1.1 to 3.1.5. The molecular structures of the frequently investigated polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners are given in Table 1 and their experimental findings are discussed in subsections 3.1.1 to 3.1.5 and summarized in Table 2.

#### Fluorinated polymers

The polymers in this group are described by carbon-fluorine linkages and are capable of increasing the viscosity of  $CO_2$  without a co-solvent [91,110]. DeSimone and co-workers were the first research group to demonstrate the ability of fluoro-polymers to thicken  $CO_2$  without a need for co-solvents [100]. They found that the addition of 3.4 and 6.7 wt/vol% poly(1,1-dihydroperfluorooctyl acrylate) (PFOA, Mw = 1,400,000 g/mol, compound 1, Table 1) in neat  $CO_2$  increased the  $CO_2$  rich solution viscosity by 2.5 and 6 fold (Fig. 5), respectively at 31 MPa and 323 K. Currently, polyfluoroacrylates remain the most  $CO_2$ -soluble polymers and most effective  $CO_2$  thickeners [110–112]. Nonetheless, the environmental concerns, high cost and high concentration of PFOA needed to thicken  $CO_2$  make PFOA not practical for  $CO_2$ -EOR field applications [105].

In another attempt, Enick and colleagues [52,102] synthesized polyfluoroacrylate styrene copolymer (polyFAST, compound **2**, Table 1) to improve the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of polyfluoroacrylate polymers. The polyFAST was found to be soluble in CO<sub>2</sub>, however, its solubility was observed to diminish as the styrene concentration increased. Their experimental studies revealed that the addition of 0.5 and 1 wt% polyFAST in CO<sub>2</sub> at 323 K and 34 MPa increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 1.5 and 2.3 fold, respectively [102]. In comparison to PFOA, polyFAST was the most effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickener at low concentrations in the absence of a co-

## E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

### Table 1

The molecular structures of polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners evaluated in this work.

Compound	Molecular structure	Polymer name	Reference
1	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} $	Poly(1,1-dihydro-perfluorooctyl acrylate) (PFOA)	[100,101]
2	$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $	Poly(fluoroacrylate styrene) (PolyFAST)	[102,103]
3	$f_{1}^{\text{Si}} \circ f_{n}$	Poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS)	[104,105]
4	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} $	Poly(1-decene) (P-1-D)	[104]
5	$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $	Poly(vinyl ethyl ether) (PVEE)	[104,106]
6	$\downarrow^{\text{CH}_3}_n$	Poly(vinyl acetate) (PVAc)	[105]
7	()	Poly(benzoyl-vinyl acetate) (PolyBOVA)	[105]
8	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (	Poly(vinyl acetate-vinyl ethyl ether) (PVAEE)	[55]
9	$H_3 \to H_3$ $H_1 \to H_3$ $O \to CH_2$	Poly(iso-butyl vinyl ether) (Piso-BVE)	[95]
10	( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (	Poly(ether carbonate) (PEC)	[107,108]
11	$ \underbrace{ \begin{pmatrix} CH_3 \\ I \\ C \\ H_2 \end{pmatrix} }_{H_2} \underbrace{ \begin{pmatrix} O \\ I \\ H_2 \end{pmatrix} }_{n} $	Poly(propylene oxide) (PPO)	[106,109]
12	2	Poly(methyl acrylate) (PMA)	[106,108]

#### E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

#### Table 1 (continued)

.

Compound	Molecular structure	Polymer name	Reference
	f		
	0~ 1		
13	CH <sub>3</sub>	Poly(propylene glycol) (PPG)	[108]
	$H_{\{0, \dots, n\}}$		
14		Poly(lactic acid) (PLA)	[106,108]
15	$ \begin{pmatrix} \circ \\ \uparrow \\$	Poly(vinyl formate) (PVF)	[106,109]
	$\gamma_n$		
16	$\mathcal{H}$	Poly(4-vinyl pyridine) (P4VP)	[106]
	`N´		

#### Table 2

\_

Summary of studies on the polymeric  $CO_2$  thickeners discussed in this work.

Polymer shortened form	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Polymer concentration (wt%)	Co-solvent (wt%)	Experimental condition	Solubility in CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> thickening ability	Reference
PFOA	1,400,000	3.4	No	323 K & 31 MPa	Soluble	2.5 fold	[101,130]
PolyFAST	540,000	1.5	co-solvent No co-solvent	298 K & 15 MPa	Soluble	19 fold	[130,140]
PDMS	197,000	4	20% Toluene	327 K & 17.2 MPa	Soluble	30 fold	[95]
PVEE	3,800	1.2-2	No	377 K & 55 MPa	Soluble	1.2-2.1 fold	[95,105]
P-1-D	910	0.81–5	co-solvent No co-solvent	377 K & 55 MPa	Soluble	1.2-2.77 fold	[95,105]
PVAc	500,000	2	23% Toluene	298 K & 64 MPa	Soluble	Increased by 70%	[103]
PolyBOVA	1,400,000	3.7	No	298 K & 64 MPa	Soluble	1.8 fold	[130]
	4 200	1 10 2 25	co-solvent	200 K		2 4 fald	
PVALE Piso-BVF	4,300	1.19-2.55	- No	290 K 377 K & 55 MPa	- Soluble	2-4 1010 1 23 fold	[95]
TISO DVE	1000	1.5	co-solvent	<i>577</i> K G <i>55</i> Mi u	boluble	1.25 1014	[55]
PEC	16,000	1	No	295 K & 14 MPa	Soluble	Not significant	[130,132]
			co-solvent				
PPO	409	1	No	306 K & 17.9 MPa	Highly soluble	1.25 fold	[72,133]
РМА	1 390	5	No	298 K & 34 6 MPa	Soluble	Not significant	[98 109]
	1,000	5	co-solvent	200 11 4 5 110 111 4	bonubie	not significant	[00,100]
PPG	1000	1	No	298 K & 31 MPa	Soluble	Not significant	[135]
<b>BY 4</b>		_	co-solvent				
PLA	128,500	5	No co colvent	308 K & 140 MPa	Less soluble	No viscosity increase	[72,109]
PVF	125 000	5	No	484 K & 240 MPa	Insoluble	No viscosity increase	[106 109]
	120,000	5	co-solvent		moorable	no nocorry mercube	[100,100]
PUD	32,500	4	No	298 K & 34.5 MPa	Less soluble	2.7-fold	[73]
			co-solvent				
P4VP	160,000	0.7	No co colvent	343 K & 55 MPa	Insoluble	No viscosity increase	[106]
			co-solvent				

solvent. However, polyFAST is not practical for  $CO_2$ -EOR field implementation because of its high cost, low yield and environmental constraints [113]. Furthermore, Lemaire and coworkers

recently reported a 19-fold increase in the viscosity of  $CO_2$  upon the addition of 1.5 wt% polyFAST (Mw = 540,000 g/mol) in  $CO_2$  at 15 MPa and 298 K [103]. Generally, fluoropolymers are the most



**Fig. 5.** CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity improvement using PFOA at different experimental conditions [101].

soluble polymers in  $CO_2$  and the most effective  $CO_2$  thickeners than hydrocarbon polymers in the absence of co-solvents [110,114]. However, their field applications are not practical because of their strong adsorption affinity on the rock surface, high costs, and environmental concerns [115].

#### Siloxane polymers

Siloxane polymers are mainly characterized by silicon-oxygen bonds and have demonstrated remarkable CO<sub>2</sub> thickening performance [55,116–119]. Heller et al. [75] investigated the solubility of high molecular weight polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS, compound **3**, Table 1) in CO<sub>2</sub> at 0.03 wt% PDMS, 18.9 MPa and 298 K. However, PDMS did not significantly increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity at this low concentration. Bae and Irani [120] used PDMS (Mw = 197,000 g/ mol) to enhance the viscosity of 76% CO2 using 4 wt% PDMS and 20% toluene at 327 K and 17.2 MPa. Under these conditions, the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity was increased by 30-fold resulting in delayed CO<sub>2</sub> breakthrough in porous media and the oil recovery was enhanced by 10–20%. In another attempt, Gandomkar et al. [103,121] tested the solubility of PDMS oligomers (4,800 < Mw < 10,000) in  $CO_2$  at 4 wt% PDMS, 298 K and 23.5 MPa, and observed a 3.7 fold CO2 viscosity increase. Recently, Zhao and co-workers [103,122] have attempted thickening CO<sub>2</sub> with PDMS at 5 wt% PDMS, 5% kerosene, 90% CO<sub>2</sub> and 325 K. Their experimental findings showed that PDMS exhibited a 54-fold increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity. Typically, all previous studies reported that PDMS polymers had higher CO<sub>2</sub>-philicity than hydrocarbon polymers [109,123,124]; however, they couldn't viscosify CO<sub>2</sub> without the addition of a significant amount of a cosolvent [56,125,126]. Furthermore, the high cost of PDMS polymers and the large amount of co-solvent needed make the field application of PDMS infeasible.

#### Hydrocarbon polymers

The polymers in this group primarily consist of carbon and hydrogen atoms only. Currently, poly(1-decene) (P-1-D, compound **4**, Table 1) is the only low molecular weight hydrocarbon polymer with high solubility and CO<sub>2</sub> thickening properties [98,127]. Zhang et al. [6] described that less than 1 wt% solution of P-1-D (Mw = 910 g/mol) potentially increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 13–14 fold at 329 K. Al Hinai and coworkers [95,101] have recently assessed the feasibility of P-1-D to increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity under reservoir conditions. Their findings revealed that P-1-D was soluble in CO<sub>2</sub> at

higher temperatures and pressure but could not significantly increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub>. For example, P-1-D increased the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> by 1.2–2.77 fold over the concentration, temperature, and pressure ranges of 0.81–5 wt%, 358–377 K, and 50–55 MPa, respectively [95]. In another attempt, Kar and Firoozabadi investigated the solubility of branched hydrocarbon oligomers of poly(1decene) in CO<sub>2</sub> and their CO<sub>2</sub>viscosification properties at subsurface conditions. About 1.8 wt% of the investigated oligomers (with 20 repeating units) increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 6.5 fold at 308 K and 31 MPa [98]. Recently, Afra et al. [268] evaluated the efficiency of an engineered oligomer of 1-decene to control the mobility of CO<sub>2</sub>. Their experimental results demonstrated that the addition of 1.5 wt% of P-1-D (Mw = 2950 g/mol) in supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> at 24 MPa and 363 K has increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 4.8 fold.

#### Oxygenated hydrocarbon polymers

The polymers in this group mainly consist of carbon, hydrogen and oxygen atoms, and they are reported as the most promising  $CO_2$  thickeners than pure hydrocarbon polymers [106]. Several oxygenated hydrocarbon polymers have been designed and investigated to thicken  $CO_2$  under different experimental conditions. Zhang et al. [6] reported that 1 wt% solution of poly(vinyl ethyl ether) (PVEE, Mw = 3800 g/mol, compound **5**, Table 1) was able to increase the  $CO_2$  viscosity by 13–14 fold at 329 K. Al Hinai et al. [95] have recently evaluated the  $CO_2$  thickening ability of PVEE under different reservoir conditions. Their findings revealed that PVEE was soluble in  $CO_2$  at higher temperatures and pressure with minor  $CO_2$  viscosifications. For example, PVEE increased the viscosity of  $CO_2$  by 1.2–2.1 fold over the concentration, temperature and pressure range of 1.2–2 wt%, 329–377 K, and 55 MPa, respectively.

In another attempt, Tapriyal [128] formulated a high molecular weight oxygenated hydrocarbon polymer namely poly(vinyl acetate) (PVAc, compound **6**, Table 1) to increase the viscosity of  $CO_2$ by dissolving 2 wt% PVAc (MW = 11,000 g/mol) in CO<sub>2</sub> at 64 MPa and 298 K. However, under these experimental conditions, no substantial increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity was noticed. Recently, Lemaire and co-workers [103] also investigated the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of PVAc (MW = 500,000 g/mol) at 2 wt% PVAc, 23 wt% toluene, 75 wt% CO<sub>2</sub>, 30 MPa, and 298 K. Their experimental results showed that the addition of a co-solvent (23 wt% toluene) increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 70%. Nevertheless, PVAc is the most successful polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickener among oxygenated hydrocarbon polymers and the second most CO<sub>2</sub>-soluble polymer among nonfluorous polymers after PDMS [129]. However, a large amount of a co-solvent is needed to dissolve PVAc in CO<sub>2</sub> at EOR conditions just like PDMS.

Enick and co-workers [130] have synthesized a new copolymer called poly(benzoyl-vinyl acetate) (PolyBOVA, compound **7**, Table 1) to thicken CO<sub>2</sub>. Their experimental results demonstrated that the addition of 3.7 wt% PolyBOVA (Mw = 1,400,000 g/mol) in CO<sub>2</sub> at 298 K has increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 1.8-fold. Moreover, PolyBOVA is the first non-fluorous polymer with CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability at low concentration (1 wt%); however, its dissolution in CO<sub>2</sub> requires high pressure (64 MPa).

Recently, Xue et al. [55] have utilized a molecular dynamic simulation method to understand and optimize the chemical properties of poly(vinyl acetate-vinyl ethyl ether) (PVAEE, compound **8**, Table 1) as a CO<sub>2</sub> viscosifying agent. The simulation studies showed that the low molecular weight PVAEE (Mw = 4300 g/mol) is capable to increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 2–4 fold at a concentration ranging from 1.19–2.35 wt% at 308 K. Although the simulation studies showed that PVAEE could increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity no experimental viscosity data are presented in Xue work to support the molecular dynamic simulation findings.

Al Hinai and coworkers [95] studied the solubility of poly(isobutyl vinyl ether) (Piso-BVE, compound **9**, Table 1) in CO<sub>2</sub> under different experimental conditions. Two concentrations (1.5 and 3 wt%) of Piso-BVE (Mw = 4000 g/mol) were examined at pressures of 50, 53, and 55 MPa and temperatures of 329 to 377 K. The dissolution of 1.5 wt% Piso-BVE in CO<sub>2</sub> at 329–377 K resulted in a 1–1.23 fold increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity. Nonetheless, the steric effect and an increase in the alkyl side chain length of Piso-BVE have been reported to affect negatively the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of the polymer.

Bullen et al. [131] have published a patent that claimed that poly(ether carbonate) (PEC, Mw = 20,000–150,000 g/mol, compound **10**, Table 1) exhibits dissolution in CO<sub>2</sub>. Their findings showed that PEC increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 3 fold at a concentration, temperature, and pressure of 2.5 wt%, 295 K, and 10–25 MPa, respectively. Moreover, Sarbu et al. [132] also investigated the solubility of poly(ether carbonate) (Mw = 16000 g/mol) in CO<sub>2</sub>. However, they found that poly(ether carbonate) could only dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> at a concentration, temperature, and pressure of 1 wt%, 295 K, and 14 MPa, respectively, without a significant increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity.

Zhang et al. [133] reported that low molecular weight poly (propylene oxide) (PPO, compound **11**, Table 1) showed high solubility in dense CO<sub>2</sub>. When 1 wt% PPO (Mw = 409 g/mol) was dissolved in CO<sub>2</sub> at 306 K and 17.9 MPa; the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity was increased by 1.25 fold [114,133]. Although PPO is the most soluble polymer in CO<sub>2</sub> among low molecular weight polymers, no substantial increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity was detected. The high solubility of PPO in CO<sub>2</sub> is ascribed to the weaker PPO–PPO self-association and stronger CO<sub>2</sub>–PPO interactions [114,134].

Shen et al. [109] have studied the solubility of 5 wt% poly (methyl acrylate) (PMA, compound **12**, Table 1) oligomers in CO<sub>2</sub> at different experimental conditions. PMA oligomer (Mw = 1390 g /mol) was found to dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> at 34.6 MPa and 298 K. Shen also reported that PMA oligomer (Mw = 2848 g/mol) could dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> at 298 K and 89.1 MPa without a significant increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity.

Enick and co-workers [135] have formulated poly(propylene glycol) (PPG, compound **13**, Table 1) as a CO<sub>2</sub>-philic compound to replace the fluoroalkyl tails in fluorinated polymers. They reported that PPG has strong Lewis acid- Lewis base interactions with CO<sub>2</sub> and has attracted researchers' attention because of its low chain flexibility and high solubility in CO<sub>2</sub>. Hong and co-workers also reported that low molecular weight PPG (Mw < 1000 g/mol) is CO<sub>2</sub> soluble; however, PPG becomes CO<sub>2</sub> insoluble as the molecular weight increases (Mw > 2000 g/mol) [134]. Although low molecular weight PPG was more CO<sub>2</sub> soluble, no CO<sub>2</sub> viscosification data were reported; thus, the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of PPG needs to be evaluated.

Conway et al. [136] have examined the solubility of poly(lactic acid) (PLA, compound **14**, Table 1) in neat CO<sub>2</sub>. Their experimental results demonstrated that PLA (Mw = 128,500 g/mol) dissolves in CO<sub>2</sub> at a high concentration (5 wt%) and pressure (140 MPa), and a moderate temperature (308 K). The copolymers of PLA are insoluble in CO<sub>2</sub> at low pressure; thus, they are not suitable CO<sub>2</sub> thick-eners [106,109].

Shen et al. [109] studied the solubility of poly(vinyl formate) (PVF, compound **15**, Table 1) in  $CO_2$  at 484 K and 240 MPa. Their findings revealed that PVF is insoluble in  $CO_2$ ; these results are as per the previously reported one by Rindfleisch and coworkers [57]. Although the formate hydrogen (proton) is not very acidic, it facilitates stronger PVF self-interactions than  $CO_2$ -PVF interactions; thus, making PVF  $CO_2$  insoluble [109].

Shi et al. [137] investigated the  $CO_2$  thickening ability of poly (urethane disulfates) (PUD, Mw = 32,500 g/mol, structure not reported) using falling cylinder viscometry at 4 wt% PUD, 298 K and 34.5 MPa. The addition of PUD in  $CO_2$  increased the solution viscosity by 2.7-fold relative to neat  $CO_2$  [73]. Higher molecular weight PUD is crucial to dramatically increase the viscosity of  $CO_2$  through non-covalent interaction when the polymer is present in dilute concentration.

#### Nitrogen-based polymers

The solubility and  $CO_2$  thickening properties of nitrogencontaining polymers such as polyvinyl amine, poly(2-ethyl-2oxazoline), poly(propylethylene imine), poly(acrylamide), poly (propylmethyl acrylateethyleneimine), poly(4-vinyl pyridine), poly(2-vinyl pyridine), and poly(N-vinyl imidazole) have been previously examined [106,138]. However, none of these polymers was observed to be soluble in  $CO_2$  at dilute concentrations (below 0.7 wt% polymer), and temperature and pressure of up to 343 K and 55 MPa, respectively. Enick and co-workers [106] reported the poor solubility of poly(4-vinyl pyridine) (P4VP, compound **16**, Table 1) in  $CO_2$  which is attributed to the stronger polymer–polymer interactions than polymer– $CO_2$  interactions confirmed through molecular modelling calculations and experimental results.

In summary, several polymeric  $CO_2$  thickeners have shown promising performance in increasing the viscosity of  $CO_2$ . Different parameters such as pressure, temperature, the molecular weight of the polymer, presence or absence of co-solvents, the solubility of the polymers in  $CO_2$ , concentration/amount of polymers dissolved in  $CO_2$ , crude oil composition and reservoir properties (porosity, permeability, salinity, rock type, etc.) are usually considered in evaluating the performance of polymeric  $CO_2$  thickeners [37,139]. For field implementations, other factors such as the thickening ability of the polymers, the amount of oil recovered, economic issues and environmental concerns are also taken into consideration. The important parameters used in evaluating the performance of the polymeric  $CO_2$  thickeners reviewed in this paper are summarized in Table 2.

#### Polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickening mechanism

The solubility and CO<sub>2</sub> thickening properties of polymers are determined mainly by polymer-CO<sub>2</sub> interactions [103]. The stronger the polymer-CO<sub>2</sub> interaction or the weaker the polymer-polymer interaction, the more likely the polymer to dissolve and thicken the CO<sub>2</sub> solution [105,141]. Polymers usually tend to thicken CO<sub>2</sub> through polymer coil expansion, intermolecular interactions, entanglement, aggregation, and self-assembly [101,142-144]. The polymers with CO<sub>2</sub>-philic or Lewis acid-base functionalities such as carbonyls, ethers, acetates, amide, and esters are likely to dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub>; however, the presence of hydroxyl (OH) and carboxylic acid (COOH) groups in the polymer chain make the polymer more CO<sub>2</sub>-phobic and impart insolubility in dense CO<sub>2</sub> [101,145–147]. Moreover, polymers with relatively small alkyl chains and highly branched alkyl chains are reported to be more CO<sub>2</sub>-philic than polymers with longer and linear alkyl groups [103,134]. The Lewis base functional groups in polymers act as an electron donor to electron-deficient carbon in CO<sub>2</sub> (Lewis acid) and facilities Lewis acid-Lewis base (La-Lb) interactions which enhance the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity [102,106]. Furthermore, the electronegative oxygen atoms in CO<sub>2</sub> have been reported to promote weak hydrogen bonding (hb) interactions with the hydrogens on the polymer backbone or side chain [50,101,106,116]. The intermolecular interactions between the polymers and CO<sub>2</sub> create a threedimensional network which restricts the free movement of the molecules in a solution leading to the formation of viscosityenhancing supramolecular structure in solution [70,148]. In this study, the La-Lb and hb interactions between the polymer and  $CO_2$  are described using poly(vinyl amine) as an example (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Intermolecular interactions between polymer and CO2.



**Fig. 7.** Effect of molecular weight on poly(butene) solubility in  $CO_2$  at 11.7 MPa and 298 K. Reproduced with permission from ref. [75] Copyright 1985 Society of Petroleum Engineers.

#### Factors affecting polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

The major factor facing polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners at a laboratory scale is the solubility of polymers in CO<sub>2</sub> [95]. The solubility and CO<sub>2</sub> thickening abilities of the polymers are influenced by several polymer properties such as stereochemistry and molecular weight of the polymers [75]. The presence of CO<sub>2</sub>-philic groups or aliphatic side chains/length and their arrangement in the polymer backbone can either enhance or reduce the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity

 Table 3

 The summary of studies on small molecule CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners discussed in this paper.

[149]. The polymer pendant groups are usually arranged in an isotactic, syndiotactic or atactic manner [75]. The atactic polymers are amorphous due to the high degree of irregularity in their structures and are more CO<sub>2</sub> soluble than isotactic and syndiotactic polymers. In the case of polymer molecular weight, high molecular weight polymers are reported to have low solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> while low molecular weight polymers are highly soluble in CO<sub>2</sub> inducing minor viscosification. Heller and co-workers [75] have studied one sequence of polybutene with different molecular weights in understanding the effect of polymer molecular weight on their solubility in liquid CO<sub>2</sub>. The results obtained indicated that the solubility of polybutene in CO<sub>2</sub> decreases with increasing polybutene molecular weight (i.e., 440, 640 and 2,500 g/mol induced a solubility of 20, 8.5 and 1.5 g/L in CO<sub>2</sub>, respectively) at 298 K and 11.7 MPa as shown in Fig. 7. Generally, the solubility of polymers in CO<sub>2</sub> decreases with increasing polymers' molecular weight; however, an average molecular weight (6,000-15,000 g/mol) has shown promising solubility and CO<sub>2</sub> thickening properties [75]. Therefore, when developing polymeric CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners; one should critically consider the stereochemistry and molecular weight of the polymers.

#### Small molecule CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

The application of small self-interacting molecules is an alternative method to polymers for direct  $CO_2$  thickening [101,103,150]. This class of compounds contain at least one  $CO_2$ -philic group and one  $CO_2$ -phobic group [50,70]. The  $CO_2$ -philic groups promote the dissolution of the compound in  $CO_2$  while the  $CO_2$ -phobic groups interact/associate with the  $CO_2$ -phobic groups of the neighbouring molecules [50,151,152]. However, previous literature

Compound	Concentration of thickener (wt%)	Co-solvent	Experimental condition	Solubility in CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> thickening ability	Reference
BBT	1.6	Hexane 48.4 wt%	298 K and 8.8 MPa	Soluble	300 fold	[78]
12-HSA	3	Ethanol	307 K and 12.4 MPa	Soluble	100 fold	[161]
		15 wt%				
FBU	5	No	298 K and 31 MPa	Soluble	3–5 fold	[137]
		co-solvent				
NFBU	1	No	298 K and 62 MPa	Soluble	Not	[162]
		co-solvent			Significant	
TATF	0.13	Pentane	297 K and 6.9 MPa	Insoluble	No	[84,101]
		39 wt%			viscosity	
					increase	
SFTATF & FTI	2-4	No	298 K and 16.5 MPa	Soluble	2–3 fold	[140]
		co-solvent				
HAD2EH	2	Hexane	298 K and 34.5 MPa	Insoluble	No	[103]
		23 wt%			viscosity	
					increase	
CPE	-	Hexane	-	Soluble	Not	[103]
					Significant	



**Fig. 8.** Molecular structure of benzene trisurea as small molecule  $CO_2$  thickener. Reproduced with permission from ref. [151] Copyright 2017 University of Pittsburgh.



Fig. 9. Molecular structure of 12-hydroxystearic acid. Reproduced with permission from ref. [103] Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society.



**Fig. 10.** Intermolecular hydrogen bonding of non-fluorinated bisureas containing CO<sub>2</sub>-philic groups. Reproduced with permission from ref. [162] Copyright 2007 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.

reports that if one chooses a thickener with the extremely powerful associating group then the thickener might turn CO<sub>2</sub>-insoluble, but if the extremely weak associating group is integrated, the thickener may dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> without a substantial increase in  $CO_2$  viscosity [103,153]. Ideally, it's reported that a good  $CO_2$  thickener must be soluble enough in CO<sub>2</sub> at reservoir conditions without the need for co-solvents and must increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by a factor of 2-100 fold in a concentration of less than 1wt% [52,154]. The unique molecular structures of small molecule thickeners generally promote inter-molecular associations in solution and form a viscosity-enhancing macromolecular network [70]. However, the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity-enhancing ability of small molecule thickeners decreases as the intermolecular attraction forces that favour self-assembly are destroyed at a higher temperature [70]. Moreover, the association of small molecules in solution can be described through remarkable changes in CO<sub>2</sub> solution viscosity. However, techniques such as scanning electron microscope (SEM), small-angle neutron scattering (SANS), X-ray diffraction (XRD) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) can also be used to confirm such associations [155-160].

Currently, several attempts have been conducted by different researchers to thicken CO<sub>2</sub> using small molecule compounds and

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx



Fig. 11. Association mechanism between trialkyltin fluoride molecules. Reproduced with permission from ref. [165] Copyright 2016 Society of Petroleum Engineers.

their research findings are summarized in Table 3. The most commonly investigated small molecules CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners include branched benzene trisurea (BBT), 12-hydroxystearic acid (12-HSA), fluorinated bisureas (FBU) and non-fluorinated bis-ureas (NFBU), trialkyltin fluoride (TATF), semi-fluorinated trialkyltin fluorides (SFTATF) and fluorinated telechelic ionomers (FTI), hydroxyaluminum di(2-ethyl hexanoate) (HAD2EH) and cross-linked phosphate esters (CPE) as presented in Table 3. The descriptions of the research findings summarized in Table 3 are given in Sections 3.2.1 to 3.2.6.

#### Branched benzene trisurea

Recently, Doherty et al. [78] have synthesized and investigated several BBT compounds to develop non-fluorous small molecule  $CO_2$  thickeners. The designed compounds contain cyclic or aromatic core rings in their molecular structure as  $CO_2$ -phobic segments (Fig. 8). The aromatic or cyclic systems are incorporated with the  $CO_2$ -philic groups such as ether, amide, ester or urea to demonstrate the intermolecular interaction which is essential for  $CO_2$  viscosity enhancement. Doherty's research findings revealed that branched benzene trisurea (1.6 wt%) is soluble in dense  $CO_2$ with a remarkable viscosity increase (300-fold) in the presence of hexane (48.4 wt%) at 298 K and 8.8 MPa [78,104]. This extreme viscosity increase and large amount of co-solvent used limits the application of benzene trisurea in EOR field applications.

#### 12-Hydroxystearic acid

Heller and colleagues [161] had previously investigated 12-HSA (Fig. 9) to gel light hydrocarbon, halogenated solvents and CO<sub>2</sub>. However, their experimental results revealed that 12-HSA is not soluble in CO<sub>2</sub> unless a substantial amount of ethanol is added as a co-solvent. The addition of 15 wt% ethanol and 3 wt% 12-HSA in CO<sub>2</sub> resulted in an increased CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 100-fold at a pressure and temperature of 12.4 MPa and 307 K, respectively.

#### Fluorinated and non-fluorinated bisureas

A team of researchers at the University of Pittsburgh and Yale University formulated small molecule compounds comprising one or two urea groups [137]. The urea groups in the synthesized compounds are reported to cause self-assembly interactions through hydrogen bonding (Fig. 10) that can increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub>-rich solutions. Their research findings demonstrated that out of 12 examined FBU compounds, only 4 compounds were extremely soluble in CO<sub>2</sub> without heating and were able to increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 3–5 times at 5 wt% FBU, 31 MPa and 298 K. In another attempt Paik and co-workers designed NFBU compounds by incorporating the CO<sub>2</sub>-philic groups into the molecular structure of the bisurea compounds as shown in Fig. 10 [162]. However, their findings showed that the designed compounds underwent self-assembly and precipitated out of solutions without any significant increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity.

#### Trialkyltin fluorides

A series of TATF compounds were investigated by Heller et al. [163] as  $CO_2$  thickeners. Tributyltin fluoride (TBTF) molecule is an example of a TATF compound that showed a remarkable increase in  $CO_2$  viscosity via intermolecular associations between



Fig. 12. Molecular structure of (a) HAD2EH and (b) its possible association mechanism. a) Reproduced with permission from ref. [103] Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. b) Reproduced with permission from ref. [165] Copyright 2016 Society of Petroleum Engineers.



Fig. 13. Molecular structure of phosphorus-based esters (a-d) and polyvalent metal ion interactions (e-h). Reproduced with permission from ref. [165] Copyright 2016 Society of Petroleum Engineers.

#### Table 4

Classification of surfactants based on their chemical structures and charges [178].



tin (Sn) and fluorine (F) atoms of the neighbouring molecules in the solution [50,163]. The tin atom is fairly electropositive; thus, it interacts with the fluorine atom which is electronegative to form Sn–F association (Fig. 11) whereas the alkyl arms in TATF create a free volume which facilitates the solubility of TATF in  $CO_2$  [140]. The investigated TATF compounds were found insoluble in  $CO_2$  with minor viscosifications even in the presence of a co-solvent. However, they were successful in thickening light hydro-

carbons such as propane, butane, pentane and hexane [84,163,164]. Shi and co-workers [140] afterwards synthesized SFTATF and FTI to enhance the solubility of TATF in CO<sub>2</sub>. Their findings showed that 2–4 wt% tri(2-perfluorobutyl ethyl) tin fluoride was able to increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 2–3 fold at 298 K and 16.5 MPa without the addition of a co-solvent. Generally, TATF and their ionomers are not regarded as viable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners due to their high costs and environmental concerns [50,70].



**Fig. 14.** Surfactant molecules self-assembled into wormlike micelles forming stable  $CO_2$  foam. Reproduced with permission from ref. [188] Copyright 2018 Elsevier.

#### Hydroxyaluminum disoaps

The thickening abilities of HAD2EH (Fig. 12a) were initially investigated in light hydrocarbons (propane, butane, pentane and hexane) by different researchers [103,166]. For example, the addition of 0.2–1.0 wt% HAD2EH at 293 K has increased the viscosity of compressed liquid propane and butane by a factor of 10–100 fold [165]. Currently, Lemaire and co-workers have investigated the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of 2 wt% HAD2EH in 75 wt% CO<sub>2</sub> at 298 K and 34.5 MPa in the presence of 23 wt% hexane [103]. The HAD2EH disoaps were found to promote inter-molecular associations in CO<sub>2</sub> solution and form a viscosity-enhancing macromolecular network (Fig. 12b). Lemaire research findings indicated that HAD2EH is insoluble in dense CO<sub>2</sub> at 298 K, its solubility may be increased through the addition of a co-solvent such as alcohol or carboxylic acid; however, this has not yet been examined.

#### Cross-linked phosphate esters (CPE)

CPE compounds were initially utilized to thicken a variety of light alkanes during hydraulic fracturing in water-sensitive formations [167–170]. The CPE groups (Fig. 13a-d) were reported to coordinate with the polyvalent metal ions (Al<sup>3+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Ti<sup>4+</sup> and  $Zn^{2+}$ ) in the hydrocarbon phase forming metal complexes (Fig. 13e-g) and a web-like supramolecular network structure (Fig. 13h) that increases the solution viscosity [165,171–173]. Lemaire and colleagues [103] have currently investigated the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening abilities of commercially available CPEs. None of the investigated CPEs was found to thicken the CO<sub>2</sub>-rich solution despite their high solubility in CO<sub>2</sub>. Thus, they suggested that to thicken a CO<sub>2</sub>-rich solution with CPE, highly CO<sub>2</sub>-philic groups such as sugar acetates, oligovinyl acetate or oligomers of propylene oxide need to be incorporated in the phosphate ester structures and a high concentration of a co-solvent (50% hexane) must be used [103].

#### Surfactant CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

Surfactants are commonly utilized as  $CO_2$  foam stabilizing agents in  $CO_2$  flooding during EOR [174–176]. A surfactant is an active chemical agent that lowers the IFT of a multiphase system in which it's dissolved [177]. Structurally, surfactants are classified as amphipathic organic compounds, meaning that their molecules have a long hydrophobic group and a small hydrophilic group [178]. However, they are further classified into cationic, anionic, nonionic and amphoteric surfactants based on their charges [179–181] (Table 4).

#### Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

Surfactants control  $CO_2$  mobility mainly through wettability alteration and interfacial tension reduction [182]. The surfactant molecules form micelles around  $CO_2$  molecules in aqueous solutions leading to stabilized  $CO_2$  foam and increased solution viscosity [183–185]. They also self-assemble into long wormlike structures and subsequently entangle with one another into network structures forming a  $CO_2$  viscous solution with stable foam [181,186,187] (Fig. 14).

Several attempts have been made in identifying appropriate surfactants for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control in EOR processes [189–192]. A lot of literature has reported on CO<sub>2</sub> mobility and conformance control (uniformity of flood front of the injected drive fluid) using surfactants; however, there are limited numerical data on CO<sub>2</sub> viscosification by surfactants. Eastoe and co-workers have attempted to increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> by using commercially available surfactants [193]. Nevertheless, none of the commercially available surfactants was found to be soluble in CO<sub>2</sub>. To overcome the challenges associated with surfactant solubility in CO<sub>2</sub>, commercially available surfactants have been modified by incorporating CO<sub>2</sub>philic functional groups [194]. Various surfactants have been designed and investigated for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control as presented in Table 5. In this study, the surfactants presented in Table 5 are categorized as fluorinated, amine and oxygenated-based surfactants as described in Sections 3.3.1 to 3.3.3.

#### Fluorinated surfactants

A series of fluorinated and semi-fluorinated surfactants (compounds 1-5, Table 5) have been designed and investigated for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control [196,198,204-206]. Both fluorinated and semi-fluorinated surfactants were found CO<sub>2</sub> soluble and increased the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by forming rod-like micelles in the presence of a small amount of water [207]. Eastoe et al. [196] have reported a significant increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity from sodium pentadecfluoro-5-dodecyl sulphate (NaF7H4) and nickel bis-nonofluoropentane sulphosuccinate (Ni-diHCF4). A CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity improvement of up to 1.5 fold was noticed at 298 K, 35 MPa and 6 wt% Ni-diHCF4 upon the addition of 10 moles of water whereas at 313 K. 40 MPa and 4.4 wt% NaF7H4, a CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity increase of up to 2 fold was observed in the presence of 12.5 moles of water [195,196]. Moreover, these thickeners are not suitable for direct field applications in EOR because high pressure and concentration are required to achieve a small increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity.

#### Amine surfactants

Amine surfactants (compound **6–12**, Table 5) have been studied as  $CO_2$  foaming agents at high temperatures and high salinity conditions [199,200,208]. A mixture of 1.0 wt% (cocamidopropyl dimethylamine, oleamidopropyl dimethylamine and erucamidopropyl dimethylamine) surfactant and 20,000 mg/L brine water was saturated with  $CO_2$  and the viscosity of the bulk solution was measured at 403 K and 10.5 MPa [199]. The experimental findings revealed that the investigated amine surfactants had increased the viscosity of the bulk solution through selfassembling behaviours and the formation of three-dimensional networks. Furthermore, the stability of amine surfactants and their  $CO_2$  viscosification ability increases as the carbon chain length increases.

#### Oxygenated surfactants

Several oxygenated hydrocarbon surfactants (compound **13–22**, Table 5) have been formulated and used to generate  $CO_2$ -stable foams [183,202]. Oxygenated hydrocarbon surfactants have shown promising  $CO_2$  mobility control and exhibited high solubility in  $CO_2$  to a level similar to those attained by fluorinated ionic surfactants [202]. The oxygenated hydrocarbon surfactants with sugar acetate functionalities such as oligo(vinyl acetate) were also deter-

#### E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

#### Table 5

Molecular structures of CO2-philic surfactants reviewed in this work.



## E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

# Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

### Table 5 (continued)

Compound	Molecular structure	Surfactant name	Reference
	$\operatorname{Br}^{-}_{+} \operatorname{CH}_{3}_{+}$		
	CH <sub>3</sub>		
11		Arquad 12–37 W	[74]
12	Cl H	Pyridinium sulfate	[202]
	0 $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $1$ $0$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$	(PPGMBE)	
13		Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)	[199,200]
	$C_{11}H_{23}$ $O-S-O$ Na II O		
14	$\bigcirc$ OAc $\bigcirc$ OAc $\bigcirc$	Peracetyl gluconic ethyl sodium sulfate	[202]
	$\bigcap_{0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\$		
15	OAc OAc O	Peracetyl gluconic sodium carboxylate	[202]
	ONa		
16	OAc OAc OAc OAc OAc OAc $SO_3Na$	Sodium sulfate PPGMBE	[202]
17	$\sim (0, \lambda)$	Nonylphenol ethoxylate	[176,190]
	$\rightarrow$		
18	· O +	Sodium bis(pentyl)-2-sulfosuccinate (di-C5SS)	[183,198]
	Na O <sub>3</sub> S O CH <sub>3</sub>		
	CH <sub>3</sub>		
19	Ö O U	Sodium bis (3,5,5-trimethyl-1-hexyl)-2-sulfosuccinate (AOT4)	[203]
	+ - Na O <sub>3</sub> S O		
20		Alpha-olefin sulfonate (AOS)	[181]
21		Sodium 2-(4.4-dimethylpentan-2-vl)-5.7.7-trimethyloctylsulfate	[183]
		(SIS1)	1 ×=1

(continued on next page)

#### E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

#### Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

#### Table 5 (continued)





Fig. 15. Effect of silica nanoparticles on oil recovery of Bentheimer sandstone cores. Reproduced with permission from ref. [231] Copyright 2020 Springer.

mined to be  $CO_2$  soluble by 2–7 wt% [202]. The oxygen atoms on the surfactant molecule make the surfactant more  $CO_2$ -philic and substantially improve the mobility of  $CO_2$  during EOR operations [37].

Despite surfactants being extensively used as foaming agents in  $CO_2$ -flooding, surfactant-stabilized  $CO_2$  foams are thermodynamically unstable; they tend to degrade and precipitate under harsh reservoir conditions [200,201,209]. Anionic and nonionic surfactants are the most  $CO_2$  soluble foaming agents with greater thermal stability and  $CO_2$  mobility reduction at a low operational cost [181,210–213]. However, amphoteric surfactants perform much better in terms of  $CO_2$ -foam stability as compared to nonionic and anionic surfactants [214]. Cationic surfactants are not stable at high temperatures and salinity reservoir conditions [199,211,215]. The majority of fluorinated surfactants are costly, environmentally unfriendly and tend to adsorb on the porous

reservoir rocks; thus, they need to be added in large quantities to compensate for the loss resulting from adsorption [74,191]. Anionic surfactants are often utilized used foaming agents in EOR field applications because they are commercially available, less expensive, have good foaming properties and have a high tolerance to temperature and salinity [214,216,217]. Therefore, it is essential to design appropriate surfactants with excellent properties for  $CO_2$  mobility control in EOR.

#### Nanoparticle CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

Nanoparticles have gained tremendous interest in the oil and gas industry for being used as additives in CO<sub>2</sub> flooding, drilling fluids and oil well cement [218,219]. Nanoparticles are small particles of matter whose diameter ranges between 1 to 100 nanometers (nm) in size [80,218,220]. A variety of nanoparticles (NPs) such as Silver (Ag), Silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>), palladium (Pd), Copper(II) oxide (CuO), Iron(III) oxide (Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), Titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>), Nickel oxide (NiO), Aluminum oxide (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), Cobalt(III) oxide (Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), boron nitride (BN) and graphene oxide (GO) nanoparticles have been investigated to generate a stable CO<sub>2</sub> foam at a laboratory scale [37,221-228]. Among investigated nanoparticles, SiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles have demonstrated superior performance in terms of CO<sub>2</sub> foam stability and gas mobility control because of their ability to remain dispersed uniformly in aqueous solutions [37,229,230]. For example, Al Yousef et al. [231] have reported a positive effect on oil recovery upon utilization of surfacemodified silica nanoparticles to control CO<sub>2</sub> mobility and enhance oil recovery (Fig. 15).

The application of nanoparticles for  $CO_2$ -foam stability is an alternative method to surfactant in EOR operations under harsh reservoir conditions such as high temperatures, salinity, shear and pressures [229,231–233]. Nanoparticles are reported to enhance the performance of  $CO_2$ -EOR through wettability alteration, pore channels plugging, interfacial tension (IFT) reduction and  $CO_2$  viscosity increase [230,234,235]. The dissolution and dispersion of nanoparticles in  $CO_2$  for  $CO_2$ -foam stability have been investigated by several researchers [223–227]. However, there is

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

a limited number of studies on the use of nanoparticles as direct  $CO_2$  thickeners. Shah and Rusheet [236] have attempted to thicken  $CO_2$  having the initial viscosity of 0.016 cP with 1wt% copper oxide (CuO) nanoparticle in the presence of 5 wt% PDMS at 323 K and 17.2 MPa. Their research findings showed that the viscosity of thickened  $CO_2$  by CuO is 140 times greater than that of conventional  $CO_2$ .

Recently, Gandomkar and Sharif [222] investigated the CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability of nanocomposite (P-1-D and graphene oxide nanoparticle) at 353 K and 19.8 MPa. Their experimental findings demonstrated that the addition of P-1-D and graphene oxide enhanced the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity by 23-fold without the use of a cosolvent. In another attempt, Zhang and colleagues [237] designed a CO<sub>2</sub> thickener by combining copolymers (partially sulfonated styrene and fluorinated polymers) with nanoparticles. Their experimental results indicated that in the presence of 1 wt% nanocomposite fibre, the designed copolymers increased the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> by 100-fold compared to net CO<sub>2</sub> at 333 K and 28 MPa. Recently, the rheological properties of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> containing different nanoparticles (CuO and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) have been studied using multi-scale computational and simulation methods [238-240]. The multi-scale computational modelling study using 1 vol% CuO nanoparticles dispersed in CO<sub>2</sub> predicted the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity increase of 30–150% [238]. The application of nanoparticles in CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR to thicken CO<sub>2</sub> is in its youngest stage and primarily validated only at a small laboratory scale. Therefore, more research (both experimental, simulation and actual field tests) needs to be conducted to disclose their CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability and feasibility for field applications to enhance oil recovery.

#### Comparison between CO<sub>2</sub> thickening technologies

The  $CO_2$  thickening methods which are commonly investigated include the use of polymers, surfactants, small molecule compounds and nanoparticles. The suitability of these methods for EOR applications mainly depends on the solubility of the thickener in  $CO_2$ , the cost of the thickener, environmental concerns, thick-

#### Table 6

Comparison between  $CO_2$  thickening technologies reviewed in this work.

t ener performance under harsh reservoir conditions (high salinity, temperatures and pressures) and the amount of co-solvent required to attain higher  $CO_2$  viscosity. Based on these factors, the working principle, advantages and disadvantages of different  $CO_2$  thickening technologies are compared as presented in Table 6.

#### Field-scale application of CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

Although there is an extensive history of attempts to viscosify  $CO_2$  using polymers, surfactants, small molecule compounds or nanoparticles; most of the attempts are based on laboratory or simulation studies with a limited number of field-scale tests [38]. Several pilot field tests have been reported on the use of polymers and surfactants for  $CO_2$  mobility and conformance control during EOR as summarized in Table 7. However, currently, no pilot field tests have been reported on the use of small molecule and nanoparticle  $CO_2$  thickeners to improve the performance of  $CO_2$  flooding. The research findings summarized in Table 7 are described in the subsequent paragraphs

Hild and Wackowski [241] have reported on the use of polyacrylamide gel to improve CO<sub>2</sub> flooding performance at Rangely Weber Sand Unit in north-western Colorado, USA. A substantial amount (10,000 bbls) of polymer gel has been injected into 44 wells. The results obtained from 44 injection wells showed higher oil output of 21 bbls/day and a substantial reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> mobility. Karaoguz et al. [242,251] reported another successful pilot field implementation of cross-linked polyacrylamide gel for CO<sub>2</sub> conformance control at the Bati Raman heavy-oil field in South-eastern Turkey. A huge amount (6500 11,000 bbls) of polymer gel was injected into 3 wells. This attempt was technically and economically successful, the rate of oil production was increased from 645 stb/day to 720 stb/day after the polymer gel treatment. Lantz and Muniz [243] have reported on the usage of a partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (PHPA) gel to control CO<sub>2</sub> conformance in the SACROC unit, in Snyder County, Texas, USA. The results obtained from the gel treatment showed an incremental oil output

Method	Working principle	Advantages	Disadvantages
Polymers	Polymer coil expansion, intermolecular interactions, entanglement and self-assembly.	<ul> <li>-Increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity over a wide range of temperatures.</li> <li>-Fluorinated polymers thicken CO<sub>2</sub> without the addition of co-solvents.</li> <li>-Mostly investigated and have shown excellent performance over other methods.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>-High molecular weight polymers hardly dissolve in dense CO<sub>2</sub>.</li> <li>-Some polymers require co-solvents to dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> and are costly.</li> <li>-Polymer solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> mostly occurs above supercritical conditions.</li> <li>Fluorinated polymers exhibit strong adsorption affinity on the rock surface.</li> </ul>
Small molecule compounds	Intermolecular associations forming viscosity- enhancing macromolecular networks in solution.	-Low concentration can induce a significant increase in CO <sub>2</sub> viscosity. -Small molecules easily gel the bulk fluids leading to a more viscous solution. -Forms stable single-phase viscous solution.	-Some of them require heating and co- solvent to dissolve in CO <sub>2</sub> . -Their CO <sub>2</sub> viscosity-enhancing ability decreases at elevated temperatures. -Small molecule CO <sub>2</sub> -rich gels are more viscous and difficult to flow. -Fluorinated small molecules are costly and environmentally unfriendly.
Surfactants	Micelles formation and self-assembly into network structures with stable foam.	<ul> <li>-Reduce the CO<sub>2</sub> relative permeability.</li> <li>-Excellent foaming agents for CO<sub>2</sub> in watersensitive formations.</li> <li>-Reduce the capillary forces and IFT in the reservoir formation.</li> </ul>	-Surfactants' composition is thermodynamically unstable. -Surfactants have strong adsorption affinity on porous rock formations. -Large quantity is needed to compensate for the loss due to adsorption.
Nanoparticles	Dispersed in $CO_2$ -aqueous solution and stabilize the $CO_2$ foam.	-Alter the wettability and reduce the IFT. -Maintain homogeneity of the CO <sub>2</sub> solutions. -Prevents precipitation in the bulk fluids at normal reservoir conditions.	<ul> <li>-A substantial amount is needed to achieve a significant CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity increase.</li> <li>-Some nanoparticles might agglomerate under harsh reservoir conditions.</li> <li>-Fluorinated-based nanoparticles are costly and environmentally unfriendly.</li> </ul>

Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry xxx (xxxx) xxx

#### Table 7

Polymers and surfactants pilot field tests for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility and conformance control.

CO <sub>2</sub> thickener	Field name	Application	Research findings	Reference
Chromic-acetate acrylamide polymer gel	Rangely Weber	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	CO <sub>2</sub> production was reduced and the oil output was increased.	[241]
Cross-linked polyacrylamide gel	Bati Raman	CO <sub>2</sub> flood conformance improvement.	Increased CO <sub>2</sub> sweep efficiency and oil production.	[242]
Partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (PHPA) gel	SACROC	CO <sub>2</sub> flood conformance improvement.	Reduced $CO_2$ production and increased oil output.	[243]
Surfactant (Alipal CD-128)	Rock Creek	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	Reduced CO <sub>2</sub> injectivity problems, but no oil displacements.	[244]
Surfactant (Chaser CD-1040)	Rangely Weber	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility was reduced and oil production was increased.	[245]
Surfactant (Chaser CD-1040)	North Ward- Estes	CO <sub>2</sub> flood conformance improvement.	CO <sub>2</sub> injectivity problems were reduced and the oil recovery was increased.	[246]
Surfactant (Chaser CD-1045)	EVG-San Andres Unit	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	Delayed $CO_2$ breakthrough and increased oil output.	[247]
Alipal CD-128/ Chaser CD-1045	East Mallet Unit	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	CO <sub>2</sub> production was decreased and the oil production rate was increased.	[248]
Alipal CD-128/ Chaser CD-1045	McElmo Creek Unit	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility control.	$CO_2$ production was decreased and the oil production rate was increased.	[248]
ELEVATE <sup>™</sup> Foam	SACROC	CO <sub>2</sub> flood conformance improvement.	$\mathrm{CO}_2$ mobility was reduced and oil production was increased.	[249]
Huntsman L24-22/C12-14 EO22	East Seminole	$CO_2$ mobility control.	CO <sub>2</sub> mobility was reduced after surfactant treatments.	[250]

of 90,000 bbls and a reduction in the gas-to-oil ratio (GOR) from 1000 to 100 for 1.5 years.

Surfactants have been successfully utilized in several pilot field tests for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility and conformance control. Heller et al. [244] were the first research group to report the CO<sub>2</sub> foam pilot field test which was implemented at the Rock Creek field in Roane County, West Virginia, USA. The results from their pilot test demonstrated that the CO<sub>2</sub> foam produced using Alipal CD-128 surfactant was effective in reducing CO<sub>2</sub> injectivity problems. Jonas et al. [245] conducted a CO<sub>2</sub> foam pilot test using CO<sub>2</sub>-soluble surfactant in the Rangely Weber Sand field, North-western Colorado, USA. The results obtained showed that the CO<sub>2</sub> mobility was reduced and the oil production was increased after the foam treatment, and the foam remained stable in the reservoir throughout the evaluation period. Chou and colleagues [246] have reported on the use of foam generated from surfactants to improve CO<sub>2</sub> injectivity in the North Ward-Estes field, Winkler County, Texas, USA. The results from the pilot test demonstrated that the CO<sub>2</sub> injectivity problems were effectively reduced by 40 to 85% and the oil production rate was increased in the offset producers. Martin et al. [247] conducted a CO<sub>2</sub> foam field test to control CO<sub>2</sub> mobility in the East Vacuum Grayberg/San Andres Unit, Lea County, USA. The results obtained from the field test showed that the  $\text{CO}_2$  mobility could be reduced by 1/3 using foam compared to CO<sub>2</sub> injection alone. Hoefner and Evans [248] have reported four developmental wells CO<sub>2</sub>-foam field trials in carbonate reservoirs (well 31 and 68 in East Mallet Unit of Hockley County-Texas, and well P-19 and R-21 in McElmo Creek Unit of San Juan County-Utah), USA. The results from the field treatments demonstrated a substantial reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> mobility in two of the four field trials (well 31 and P-19) and an increased overall oil production rate by 10% to 30%.

Furthermore, Sanders et al. [249] conducted a  $CO_2$ -foam pilot test to control  $CO_2$  mobility at Scurry Area Canyon Reef Operational Committee (SACROC) field in west Texas, USA. The results obtained from the pilot test showed a significant reduction in  $CO_2$  mobility by over 50% compared to  $CO_2$  injection alone and a substantial increase in oil production (30%) was achieved at offset oil production wells. Mukherjee et al. [252,253] have reported a  $CO_2$  foam pilot test to address the  $CO_2$  mobility issues in the Salt Creek field, Natrona County, USA. The pilot test results depicted a significant reduction (40%) in  $CO_2$  mobility and were used to develop a model that anticipated an increase in the oil production rate. Alcorn research group have implemented a  $CO_2$  foam pilot test using nonionic surfactant (linear ethoxylated alcohol) in East Seminole Field, Permian Basin, west Texas, USA [250]. The results obtained from the pilot test showed a CO<sub>2</sub> mobility reduction of 70% using surfactant compared to CO<sub>2</sub> injection alone. Mirzaei et al. [30] have conducted a CO<sub>2</sub> foam pilot test using a CO<sub>2</sub>-soluble surfactant namely ELEVATE<sup>TM</sup> to address the CO<sub>2</sub> conformance problems in hydrocarbon reservoirs in West Texas, USA. The pilot test results revealed that the utilized foam had successfully reduced the conformance problems in the studied area. However, the oil production rate response was insufficient because the pilot test was performed without a fully developed simulation model. Moreover, the research findings from polymer and surfactant pilot field tests are promising; nevertheless, further research work needs to be conducted to find effective and affordable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications.

#### Screening criteria for designing CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

The screening criteria for designing CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners principally depend on the reservoir properties, working conditions, the solubility of thickener in CO<sub>2</sub>, the amount of co-solvent required, environmental concerns, and availability and cost of thickener [37,254]. The solubility of thickeners in CO<sub>2</sub> is the prime factor to consider when designing CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners. Polymer solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> is affected by the strength of covalent bonds, the degree of crystallinity or amorphous of the polymer, and the intermolecular forces between the polymer chains [57]. Previous studies have reported that, polymers with low surface tension, low cohesive energy density, low solubility parameter, low polarizability, low glass transition temperature (Tg), and high free volume exhibit high solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> [57,58,255]. A good CO<sub>2</sub> thickener must be soluble enough in CO<sub>2</sub> at reservoir conditions without the need for co-solvents and must increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> by a factor of 10-100 folds in a concentration of less than 1wt% [154]. The thickener must be less expensive, non-toxic, highly CO<sub>2</sub> soluble without heating the mixture, and environmentally friendly. The thickener must be soluble enough in dense CO<sub>2</sub> but insoluble in both brine solution and crude oil at reservoir conditions [154]. The thickener must be tested in CO<sub>2</sub> instead of organic liquids such as light alkanes during an initial screening stage. The thickener must be designed/synthesized specifically for application in CO<sub>2</sub> systems by incorporating important CO<sub>2</sub>-philic/phobic functionalities instead of evaluating hundreds of commercially available chemical compounds. However, these criteria are not the rule of thumb; they just serve as a baseline for making decisions during

the initial screening stage. For example, one may design a  $CO_2$  thickening agent that is relatively inexpensive but requires a large volume of a co-solvent to dissolve and thicken  $CO_2$ , hence, making the process not practical for  $CO_2$ -EOR field application.

#### Challenges facing CO<sub>2</sub> thickening technologies

The major challenge towards achieving effective CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners is the low solubility of thickeners in dense CO<sub>2</sub> resulting in a large volume of co-solvent requirement or expensive CO<sub>2</sub>-philic groups [256,257]. Many conventional thickeners particularly polymers are less soluble in CO<sub>2</sub> unless higher pressure that exceeds the minimum miscibility pressure (MMP) and co-solvent are used [27,41]. High molecular weight polymers are reported to have low solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> whereas low molecular weight polymers are reported to have high solubility in CO<sub>2</sub> with minor viscosification [75,258]. The majority of the co-solvents used to thicken  $CO_2$ are environmentally unfriendly and highly expensive; thus, making the process not practical for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR field applications [259]. Fluorinated-based CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners are environmentally unfriendly, very expensive and have higher adsorption affinity on porous rocks hence reducing their CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability [1]. Small molecule CO<sub>2</sub>-rich gels are more viscous and difficult to flow through the porous rocks at normal reservoir conditions but also require heating to maintain solution homogeneity. Nanoparticles have shown promising performance in stabilizing CO<sub>2</sub> foam; however, they tend to precipitate/agglomerate under harsh reservoir conditions. Despite many decades of intensive research work on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners, an effective and affordable CO<sub>2</sub> thickener that is free from these challenges has not yet been found. Therefore, more research studies need to be conducted to overcome these challenges and to find appropriate CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications.

#### Future research directions on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners

Despite many years of intensive research work on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners, an effective, affordable and environmentally friendly CO<sub>2</sub> thickener that can dissolve in CO<sub>2</sub> at lower concentrations and increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity significantly to a level similar to that of crude oil without the addition of co-solvents has not yet been found. Future research studies on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners must focus on designing and synthesizing less expensive, non-fluorous, nontoxic, environmentally friendly and highly soluble CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners that require less or no volume of co-solvent to achieve higher CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity [53,260,261]. Recently, researchers have drawn more attention to biopolymers and their derivatives as greener chemical agents for EOR operations [61,262]. Biopolymers such as starch, sugar acetates, xanthan gum and guar gum which are abundant and naturally available are of great interest for future research in CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners [61,263]. Polymeric compounds containing acetate, ether, carbonate, and carbonyl functionalities have currently been reported as attractive CO2-thickening candidates for future research studies [107,109,260,264]. Currently, poly(vinyl acetate) is the only high molecular weight, non-fluorous and most CO<sub>2</sub> soluble polymer that demonstrated a significant CO<sub>2</sub> thickening ability over a broad spectrum of temperatures [129]. Future research studies should also consider incorporating more than one CO<sub>2</sub> thickening agent, specifically, nanoparticles can be incorporated with polymers or surfactants to increase the CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity and enhance oil recovery. Furthermore, the molecular structure of the CO<sub>2</sub> thickener should be critically designed to achieve a structural balance between CO<sub>2</sub>-philic/CO<sub>2</sub>-phobic groups to enhance the solubility of the thickener and increase the viscosity of CO<sub>2</sub> [265].

#### Conclusion

Several chemical compounds such as polymers, surfactants, small molecules and nanoparticles have been designed and investigated as CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners. Currently, none of these chemicals can be regarded as effective and affordable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications. The results obtained from laboratory investigations, simulation studies and molecular dynamics modelling revealed that PDMS, polyFAST, PFOA, PVAc and P-1-D remain the most technically viable polymers for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control. However, their field applications are not practical because of their high costs, large amount is needed to produce satisfactory results and environmental constraints. Small-molecule compounds both fluorinated, semifluorinated and non-fluorinated have been identified in previous literature as CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners. They are capable of viscosifying the CO<sub>2</sub> by up to 300-fold at ambient temperatures (298–315 K). The experimental studies on microemulsions prepared using CO2 and surfactants demonstrated a substantial increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity implying a reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> mobility. The application of nanoparticles for CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control has provided an alternative method for generating stable CO<sub>2</sub> foam which contributes to an increase in CO<sub>2</sub> viscosity. Despite many years of intensive research work on CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners, most of the attempts are either laboratory or simulation studies based with a limited number of pilot field tests. Moreover, further research work with an emphasis on pilot field tests needs to be conducted to identify effective and affordable CO<sub>2</sub> thickeners for EOR field applications.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

The Authors would like to thank the Chinese Government for a PhD scholarship (2019GBJ002429) and research fund to support this work, and the China University of Geosciences (Wuhan) for the conducive learning environment.

#### References

- Q. Li, Y. Wang, A.B. Owusu, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 20787–20797, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05386-6.
- [2] S. Kumar, A. Mandal, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 157 (696) (2017) 715, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2017.07.066.
- [3] Q. Li, Y. Wang, Q. Li, F. Wang, J. Bernardo, Y. Zhang, B. Bai, F. Liu, in: SPE/IATMI Asia Pacific Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition, Society of Petroleum Engineers, Bali, 2019, pp. 1–9.
- [4] S. Ahmed, A.S. Hanamertani, M.R. Hashmet, IntechOpen (2019) 1–24.
- [5] A.N. El-hoshoudy, S. Desouky, IntechOpen (2018) 80–93.
- [6] S. Zhang, Y. She, Y. Gu, J. Chem. Eng. Data 56 (1069) (2011) 79, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/je1010449.
- [7] D.W. Green, G.P. Willhite, Enhanced Oil Recovery, second ed., Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2018.
- [8] D.W. Green, G.P. Willhite, Enhanced Oil Recovery, first ed., Society of Petroleum Engineers, 1998.
- [9] R. Hu, S. Tang, M. Mpelwa, Z. Jiang, S. Feng, Energy Explor. Exploit. 39 (4) (2021) 1324–1348, https://doi.org/10.1177/0144598720980209.
- [10] M. Blunt, F.J. Fayers, F.M. Orr, Energy Conver 34 (9) (1993) 1197–1204.
- [11] B.Y.S. Kokal, A. Al-kaabi, E. Advanced, S. Aramco, Glob. Energy Solut. (2010) 64–69.
- [12] M.A. Nilsson, R. Kulkarni, L. Gerberich, R. Hammond, R. Singh, E. Baumhoff, J.P. Rothstein, J. Nonnewton, Fluid Mech. 202 (2013) 112–119, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jnnfm.2013.09.011.
- [13] M.M. Kulkarni, D.N. Rao, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 48 (2005) 1–20, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2005.05.001.

- [14] L.N. Nwidee, S. Theophilus, A. Barifcani, M. Sarmadivaleh, S. Iglauer, Chem. Enhanc. Oil Recover. - a Pract Overv. 1 (2016) 3–52, https://doi.org/10.5772/ 64828.
- [15] B. Bai, J. Zhou, M. Yin, Pet. Explor. Dev. 42 (4) (2015) 525–532, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1876-3804 (15) 30045-8.
- [16] V.S. Suicmez, J. Nat. Gas Sci. Eng. 68 (April) (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jngse.2019.102924.
- [17] R. Farajzadeh, A.A. Eftekhari, G. Dafnomilis, L.W. Lake, J. Bruining, Appl. Energy 261 (January) (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apenergy.2019.114467.
- [18] X. Sun, C. Dai, Y. Sun, M. Zhao, X. Wang, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2018) 1-15.
- [19] L. Romero-Zern, IntechOpen (2012) 1-44.
- [20] R.E. Terry, Encycl. Phys Sci. Technol. 18 (2001) 503-518.
- [21] N.M. Al Hinai, A. Saeedi, C.D. Wood, R. Valdez, L. Esteban, Energy & Fuels 31 (2017) 4951–4965, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.7b00314.
- [22] V. Alvarado, E. Manrique, Energies 3 (2010) 1529-1575, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/en3091529.
- [23] A.M. Alamooti, F.K. Malekabadi, in: Fundamentals of Enhanced Oil and Gas Recovery from Conventional and Unconventional Reservoirs, Elsevier Inc., 2018, pp. 1–40.
- [24] S. Thomas, Oil Gas Sci. Technol. 63 (2008) 9–19.
- [25] M. Yin, CO<sub>2</sub> miscible flooding application and screening criteria, Missouri University of Science and Technology, 2015.
- [26] V. Núñez-lópez, E. Moskal, Front. Clim. 1 (September) (2019), https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fclim.2019.00005.
- [27] Z. Alyousef, O. Swaie, A. Alabdulwahab, S. Kokal, S. Aramco, Soc. Pet Eng. (2019), SPE-197185-MS.
- [28] Y. Yan, C. Li, Z. Dong, T. Fang, B. Sun, J. Zhang, Fuel 190 (2017) 253–259, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2016.11.019.
- [29] H. Belhaj, H. Abukhalifeh, K. Javid, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 111 (2013) 144–152, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2013.08.030.
- [30] M. Mirzaei, D. Kumar, D. Turner, A. Shock, D. Andel, D. Hampton, T.E. Knight, A. Katiyar, P.D. Patil, P. Rozowski, Q.P. Nguyen, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE-200371 (2020) 1–17, SPE-200371-MS.
- [31] T.A. Hoefling, R.R. Beitle, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, Fluid Phase Equilib. 83 (1993) 203–212, 0378-381/93/\$06.00.
- [32] G. Jian, Z. Alcorn, L. Zhang, M.C. Puerto, S. Soroush, A. Graue, S.L. Biswal, G.J. Hirasaki, SPE J. (July) (2020) 1–13.
- [33] Y. Yu, S. Saraji, Energy & Fuels 35 (10051–10061) (2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.1c00281.
   [24] F. Harris, F. La harris, F. Garris, P. Garris, C. (2020) 1022, 1041, https://doi.org/
- [34] F. Janna, F. Le-hussain, Energy Reports 6 (2020) 1922–1941, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.egyr.2020.07.008.
- [35] O. Massarweh, A.S. Abushaikha, Petroleum 8 (3) (2022) 291–317, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.petlm.2021.05.002.
- [36] K.H.A.S.A. Abu-khamsin, Arab. J. Sci. Eng. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13369-020-04901-z.
- [37] N. Pal, X. Zhang, M. Ali, A. Mandal, H. Hoteit, Fuel 315 (July 2021) (2022) 122947.
- [38] Z.Z. Jangda, A.S. Sultan, R.N. Gajbhiye, A. Arshad, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE-169725 (2014) 1–14. SPE-169725-MS.
- [39] S.H. Talebian, R. Masoudi, I.M. Tan, P.L.J. Zitha, Soc. Pet. Eng. 2 (2013) 1–14, SPE 165280.
- [40] W. Li, D.S. Schechter, Can. Energy Technol. Innov. 2 (1) (2014) 1–8.
- [41] W. Li, Using polymer to maximize CO<sub>2</sub> flooding performance in light oils, Texas A&M University, 2014.
- [42] R. Chen, H. Fan, X. Zhang, J. Zheng, Z. Ma, C. Bittencourt, J Appl Polym Sci (June) (2020) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1002/app.49700.
- [43] X. Zhang, Y. Wang, C. Da, J. Ge, G. Zhang, P. Jiang, H. Pei, Soc. Pet. Eng. 1 (2020) 1–9. SPE-200435-MS.
- [44] J.P. Meyer, Summary of Carbon Dioxide Enhanced Oil Recovery (CO<sub>2</sub> EOR), Injection Well Technology, 2009.
- [45] V. Vishnyakov, B. Suleimanov, A. Salmanov, E. Zeynalov, Primer on Enhanced Oil Recovery, first ed., Elsevier Inc., 2020, pp. 96–125.
- [46] C.C.E. Solutions, Carbon Dioxide Enhanced Oil Recovery: A Critical Domestic Energy, Economic and Environmental Opportunity, 2012.
- [47] I. Energy, CO<sub>2</sub> Enhanced Oil Recovery, 2012.
- [48] J.R. Damico, C.C. Monson, S. Frailey, Y. Lasemi, D. Nathan, N. Grigsby, F. Yang, P. Berger, Energy Procedia 63 (2014) 7694–7708, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.egypro.2014.11.803.
- [49] P.D. Patil, T. Knight, A. Katiyar, Vanderwal, P. Dow, J. Scherlin, P. Rozowsk, M. Ibrahim, G.B. Sridhar, Q.P. Nguyen, Soc. Pet. Eng. 2 (Sheng 2013) (2018). SPE-190312-MS.
- [50] R.M. Enick, D. Olsen, J. Ammer, W. Schuller, Soc. Pet. Eng. 2 (2012) 910–921, https://doi.org/10.2118/154122-ms.
- [51] F. Martin, J. Heller, W. Weiss, J.-S. Tsau, D.R. Zornes, L.A. Sugg, J.E. Stevens, J.E. Kim, SPE/IDOE Eighth Symposium on Enhanced Oil Recovery, Vol. SPEIDOE 24, Society of Petroleum Engineers, Tulsa. Oklahoma, 1992, pp. 201–8.
- [52] J. Xu, Carbon dioxide thickening agents for reduced CO<sub>2</sub> mobility, University of Pittsburgh, 2003.
- [53] S. Kilic, Engineering of polymers to thicken carbon dioxide: A systematic approach, University of Pittsburgh, 2003.
- [54] F. Guo, S. Aryana, Fuel 186 (2016) 430-442, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.fuel.2016.08.058.
- [55] P. Xue, J. Shi, X. Cao, S. Yuan, Chem. Phys. Lett. 706 (2018) 658–664, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2018.07.006.

- [56] C. Daia, P.L. Tao Wanga, M. Zhaoa, X. Suna, M. Gaoa, Z. Xua, B. Guanb, Fuel 211 (2018) 60–6. 10.1016/j.fuel.2017.09.041.
- [57] F. Rindfleisch, T.P. Dinoia, M.A. Mchugh, J. Phys. Chem 100 (38) (1996) 15581-15587, https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9615823.
- [58] C.L. Bray, B. Tan, S. Higgins, A.I. Cooper, Macromolecules 43 (22) (2010) 9426– 9433, https://doi.org/10.1021/ma1016055.
- [59] A.M. Asiri, Advanced Nanotechnology and Application of Supercritical Fluids, Springer Nature Switzerland AG, 2020.
- [60] P. Taylor, H. Wang, G. Li, Z. Shen, Energy Sources 34 (2012) 1426–1435, https://doi.org/10.1080/15567036.2010.529570.
- [61] L. Hong, M. Fisher, R. Enick, E. Beckman, Green Chem. 10 (7) (2008) 756–761, https://doi.org/10.1039/b800812d.
- [62] F.M. Orr, J.P. Heller, J.J. Taber, in: Enhanced Oil Recovery-Facts and Challenges, Canada, Toronto, 1982, pp. 810–817.
- [63] X. Sun, B. Bai, Y. Long, Z. Wang, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 185 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2019.106662.
- [64] M.J.O. Brien, R.J. Perry, M.D. Doherty, J.J. Lee, A. Dhuwe, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, Energy & Fuels (2016), https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. energyfuels.6b00946.
- [65] R. Moghadasi, A. Rostami, A. Hemmati-sarapardeh, in: Fundamentals of Enhanced Oil and Gas Recovery from Conventional and Unconventional Reservoirs, Elsevier Inc., 2018, pp. 61–100.
- [66] N.M. Al, M.B. Myers, A. Mousavi, C.D. Wood, R. Valdez, F. Jin, Q. Xie, A. Saeedi, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 181 (June) (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. petrol.2019.106210.
- [67] S. Ahmed, K. Abdalla, I.M. Tan, M. Rehan, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 157 (March) (2017) 971–979, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.08.018.
- [68] P. Wei, W. Pu, L. Sun, Y. Pu, S. Wang, Z. Fang, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 163 (January) (2018) 340–348, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2018.01.011.
- [69] M. Sagir, M. Mushtaq, M.S. Tahir, M.B. Tahir, S. Ullah, N. Abbas, M. Pervaiz, Materials Science and Materials Engineering, Elsevier Inc., 2018, pp. 52–8.
- [70] J.J. Lee, S. Cummings, A. Dhuwe, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2014) 1–18. SPE-169039-MS.
- [71] T. Zhu, H. Gong, M. Dong, Fluid Phase Equilib. 537 (2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fluid.2021.112988.
- [72] Z.A.A. Al Yousef, Study of CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control in heterogeneous media using CO<sub>2</sub> thickening agents, Doctoral dissertation, Texas A&M University, 2012.
- [73] Z. Huang, C. Shi, J. Xu, S. Kilic, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, Macromolecules 33 (15) (2000) 5437–5442.
- [74] T. Majeed, M.S. Kamal, X. Zhou, T. Solling, Energy & Fuels 35 (2021) 5594– 5612, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.1c00035.
- [75] J.P. Heller, D.K. Dandge, R.J. Card, L.G. Donaruma, Soc. Pet. Eng. 25 (2) (1985) 679-686, https://doi.org/10.2118/11789-PA.
- [76] S. Hosna, R. Masoudi, I. Mohd, P. Lidio, J. Zitha, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 120 (2014) 202– 215, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2014.05.013.
- [77] X. Zhang, G. Zhang, J. Ge, Y. Wang, Vol. 1, Society of Petroleum Engineers, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2020, pp. 1–10.
- [78] M.D. Doherty, J.J. Lee, A. Dhuwe, M.J.O. Brien, R.J. Perry, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, Energy & Fuels 30 (2016) 5601–5610, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. energyfuels.6b00859.
- [79] N.M. Al Hinai, A. Saeedi, C.D. Wood, M. Myers, R. Valdez, Q. Xie, F. Jin, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 57 (2018) 14637–14647, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. iecr.8b02928.
- [80] A.U. Rognmo, S. Heldal, M.A. Fernø, Fuel 216 (2018) 621–626, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fuel.2017.11.144.
- [81] X. Xu, A. Saeedi, K. Liu, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 149 (November 2015) (2017) 603–611, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2016.11.022.
   [82] G. Gallo, E. Erdmann, C.N. Cavasotto, ACS Omega 6 (2021) 24803–24813,
- [62] G. Galio, E. Erdinani, C.N. Cavasotto, ACS Onlega 6 (2021) 24605–24615, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c03660.
- [83] S. Cummings, K. Trickett, J. Eastoe, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 13 (4) (2011) 1245–1696, https://doi.org/10.1039/c003856c.
- [84] A. lezzi, R. Enick, J. Brady, Am. Chem. Soc. (1989) 123–139, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/bk-1989-0406.ch010.
- [85] X. Luo, S. Wang, Z. Wang, Z. Jing, M. Lv, Z. Zhai, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 133 (2015) 410– 420, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2015.06.033.
- [86] F.M. Llave, F.T.H. Chung, T.E. Burchfield, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 17344 (February) (1990) 47–51.
- [87] M. Zhou, H. Tu, Y. He, P. Peng, M. Liao, J. Zhang, X. Xu, J. Mol. Liq. 312 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2020.113090.
- [88] Q. Li, Y. Wang, F. Wang, Q. Li, F. Kobina, H. Bai, L. Yuan, Polymers (Basel). 504 (11) (2019) 3–5, https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11030540.
- [89] E. Mayoral, A.G. Goicochea, J. Phys. Chem. B 125 (2021) 1692–1704, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.0c11087.
- [90] M. Zhao, R. Yan, Y. Li, Y. Wu, C. Dai, H. Yan, Fuel 323 (2022), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124358.
- [91] H.A. Zaberi, J.J. Lee, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, S.D. Cummings, C. Dailey, M. Vasilache, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. (August) (2019) 1–19, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. petrol.2019.106556.
- [92] M. Al-shargabi, S. Davoodi, D.A. Wood, V.S. Rukavishnikov, K.M. Minaev, ACS Omega 7 (2022) 9984–9994, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c07123.
- [93] T. Sharma, A. Joshi, A. Jain, K.R. Chaturvedi, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 211 (2022), https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2022.110167.
- [94] W. Sun, H. Wang, Y. Zha, J. Yu, J. Zhang, Y. Ge, B. Sun, Y. Zhang, C. Gao, Chem. Eng. Sci. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2020.115857.

- [95] N.M. Al Hinai, A. Saeedi, C.D. Wood, M. Myers, R. Valdez, A.K. Sooud, A. Sari, Energy & Fuels 32 (2018) 1600-1611, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. energyfuels.7b03733.
- [96] A. Pandey, K.R. Chaturvedi, J. Trivedi, T. Sharma, J. Clean. Prod. 328 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129628
- [97] Y. Gu, S. Zhang, Y. She, J Polym Res 61 (20) (2013) 1-13, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10965-012-0061-9. [98] T. Kar, A. Firoozabadi, IScience 25 (5) (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- isci.2022.104266 [99] K.M. Tadepalli, S. Chakrabarty, P. Patil, R. Kumar, Langmuir (2022), https://
- doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.2c02477. [100] J.M. DeSimone, Z. Guan, C.S. Elsbernd, Synthesis of Fluoropolymers in
- Supercritical Carbon Dioxide Vol. 257 (1992) [101] N. Mohammed, A. Hinai, M. Myers, C.D. Wood, A. Saeedi, Enhanced Oil
- Recovery Processes New Technologies, IntechOpen (2019) 160. [102] J. Xu, A. Wlaschin, R.M. Enick, Soc. Pet. Eng. (June) (2003) 85-91. SPE 84949.
- [103] P.C. Lemaire, A. Alenzi, J.J. Lee, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, Energy & Fuels 35
- (2021) 8510-8540, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.1c00314. [104] J.J. Lee, Small Molecule Associative CO<sub>2</sub> thickener for improved mobillity
- ontrol, University of Pittsburgh, 2017. [105] M. Zhou, R. Ni, Y. Zhao, J. Huang, X. Deng, Soft Matter 17 (2) (2021) 5107-5115, https://doi.org/10.1039/D1SM00189B
- [106] E.J.B. Robert M. Enick, Inexpensive CO2 Thickening Agents for Improved Mobility Control of CO2 Floods, 2009.
- [107] T. Sarbu, T. Styranec, E.J. Beckman, Nature 405 (2000) 165-168, https://doi. org/10.1038/35012040.
- [108] H. Gong, W. Gui, H. Zhang, W. Lv, L. Xu, Y. Li, M. Dong, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 138 (14) (2021) 1-13, https://doi.org/10.1002/app.50151.
- [109] Z. Shen, M.A. Mchugh, J. Xu, J. Belardi, S. Kilic, A. Mesiano, Polymer (Guildf). 44 (2003) 1491-1498, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-3861(03)00020-X.
- [110] A. Gandomkar, H. Reza, R.M. Enick, F. Torabi, Fuel 331 (2023), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fuel.2022.125760.
- [111] S.W. Meng, J. Zhang, G.W. Lu, X.T. Li, L.J. Xiao, T.F. Hou, P.F. Chen, R. Zhang, Adv. Mater. Res. 1021 (2014) 20-24, https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific. net/AMR 1021 20
- [112] S. Kilic, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, J. Supercrit. Fluids 146 (October 2018) (2019) 38-46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2019.01.001.
- [113] A.G. Goicochea, A. Firoozabadi, J. Phys. Chem. C 123 (48) (2019) 29461-29467, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b08589.
- [114] M.L.O. Neill, Q. Cao, M. Fang, K.P. Johnston, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 37 (8) (1998) 3067-3079
- [115] X. Zang, M. Chang, L. Zheng, Y. Zhou, Y. Wang, J. Ren, L. Wu, X. Han, Q. Wang, J. Wu, J. Mol. Liq. (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2019.112044
- [116] O. Li, Y. Wang, X. Wang, H. Yu, O. Li, F. Wang, H. Bai, F. Kobina, Energy Sources Part A Recover. Util. Environ. Eff. 41 (3) (2019) 368–377, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15567036.2018.1518355
- [117] Q. Li, Y. Wang, X. Wang, H. Yu, Q. Li, F. Wang, H. Bai, F. Kobina, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 8770–8778, https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra13645e.
- [118] Q. Shi, W. Qiao, J. Surfactants Deterg. (2016), https://doi.org/10.1007/s11743-016-1912-x.
- [119] Q. Li, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, J. San, Q. Li, Energy Sources Part A Recover. Util. Environ. Eff. 00 (00) (2018) 1-7, https://doi.org/10.1080/ (00) (2018) 15567036.2018.1474297.
- [120] J.H. Bae, C.A. Irani, SPE Adv. Technol. Ser. 1 (1) (1993) 166-171.
- [121] A. Gandomkar, F. Torabi, M. Riazi, Can. J. Chem. Eng. (February) (2020) 1-11, https://doi.org/10.1002/cjce.23936.
- [122] M. Zhao, Y. Li, M. Gao, T. Wang, C. Dai, X. Wang, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 201 (July 2020) (2021), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2021.108474.
- [123] E. Kiran, K. Liu, Korean J. Chem. Eng. 19 (1) (2002) 153-158, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF02706889.
- [124] J.J. Lee, S.D. Cummings, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, W.A. Burgess, M.D. Doherty. M.J.O. Brien, R.J. Perry, J. Supercrit. Fluids 119 (2017) 17-25, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.supflu.2016.08.003
- [125] R. Fink, E.J. Beckman, J. Supercrit. Fluids 18 (2000) 101–110.
   [126] M. Du, X. Sun, C. Dai, H. Li, T. Wang, Z. Xu, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 166 (2018) 369–374, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2018.03.039.
- [127] N. Bashti, A. Gandomkar, M. Sharif, Pet. Res. 30(111) (2020) 23-6. 10.22078/ pr.2020.3944.2798.
- [128] D. Tapriyal, Design of non-fluorous CO<sub>2</sub> soluble compounds. University of Pittsburgh, 2009.
- [129] D. Tapriyal, Y. Wang, R.M. Enick, J.K. Johnson, J. Crosthwaite, M.C. Thies, I.H. Paik, A.D. Hamilton, J. Supercrit. Fluids 46 (3) (2008) 252-257, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.supflu.2008.05.001.
- [130] H. Zaberi, Core flooding study of CO<sub>2</sub>-soluble polymers for improved mobility control and conformance control, In: Doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh, 2017.
- [131] J.P. Bullen, R.S. Mzik, J. Richard, Novel Compositions Suitable for Treating Deep Wells (1987).
- [132] T. Sarbu, T.J. Styranec, E.J. Beckman, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 39 (12) (2000) 4678-4683, https://doi.org/10.1021/ie0003077.
- [133] Y. Zhang, Z. Zhu, J. Tang, Fluid Phase Equilib. 532 (2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fluid.2020.112932
- [134] L. Hong, D. Tapriyal, R.M. Enick, J. Chem. Eng. Data 53 (6) (2008) 1342-1345, https://doi.org/10.1021/je800068v
- [135] R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, Novel CO<sub>2</sub> -Thickeners for Improved Mobility, Control (2001).

- [136] S.E. Conway, H. Byun, M.A. Mchugh, J.D. Wang, F.S. Mandel, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 80 (2001) 1155-1161
- [137] C. Shi, Z. Huang, S. Kilic, J. Xu, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, A.J. Carr, R.E. Melendez, A.D. Hamiltonz, The Gelation of CO2: A Sustainable Route to the Creation of Microcellular Materials, Vol. 286, 1999.
- [138] X. Xu, A. Saeedi, K. Liu, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 138 (2016) 153-159, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2015.10.025.
- [139] Q. Li, Y. Wang, F. Wang, J. Wu, M. Usman, Q. Li, L. Yuan, Z. Liu, Energy Sources Part A Recover. Util. Environ. Eff. 42 (14) (2020) 1705-1715, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15567036.2019.1604880
- [140] C. Shi, Z. Huang, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, S. Kim, D.P. Curran, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res 40 (2001) 908-913.
- [141] Y. Zhang, Z. Zhu, J. Tang, New J. Chem 45 (2021) 651-656, https://doi.org/ 10.1039/d0nj02442b.
- [142] E. Girard, T. Tassaing, J.-D. Marty, M. Destarac, Chem. Rev. 116 (2016) 4125-4169, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00420.
- [143] M. Fu, Q. Huang, Y. Gu, L. Xu, L. Chen, Energy Fuels (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c01963
- [144] Z. Jian, X. Bo, Z. Guoxiang, H. Wenhao, Y. Guang, J. Tieya, J. Shuo, Z. Zhiguo, MATEC Web Conf. 2 (2015) 1-5. 10.1051/matecconf 201531 1/0002.
- O.K. Dandge, J.P. Heller, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 16271 (1987) 297-
- [146] S. Kilic, S. Michalik, Y. Wang, J.K. Johnson, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, Macromolecules 40 (2007) 1332-1341, https://doi.org/ (4) 10.1021/ma061422h.
- [147] W. Sun, B. Sun, Y. Li, X. Huang, H. Fan, X. Zhao, H. Sun, W. Sun, Polymers (Basel). 286 (10) (2018) 1-16, https://doi.org/10.3390/ polym10030268
- [148] B. Liu, Y. Wang, L. Liang, Polymers (Basel). 78 (13) (2021) 1-16, https://doi. org/10.3390/polym13010078
- [149] H. Lu, Y. Liu, J. Jiang, Z. Huang, J. Appl. Polym. Sci 41468 (2015) 1-9, https:// doi.org/10.1002/app.41468.
- [150] S. Wenchao, S. Baojiang, F. Zhi, Adv. Mater. Res. 936 (2014) 1541-1548, https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.936.154
- [151] R. Enick, Small Molecular Associative Carbon Dioxide (CO2) Thickeners for Improved Mobility Control, 2017.
- [152] R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, C. Shi, Z. Huang, J. Xu, S. Kilic, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2000) SPE 59325.
- [153] B. Sun, W. Sun, H. Wang, Y. Li, H. Fan, H. Li, X. Chen, J. CO<sub>2</sub> Util. 28 (December 2017) (2018) 107-116, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcou.2018.09.015
- [154] R.M. Enick, A Literature Review of Attempts to Increase the Viscosity of Dense Carbon Dioxide, 1998.
- [155] P.J.M. Stals, J.F. Haveman, R. Martín-Rapún, C.F.C. Fitié, A.R.A. Palmans, E.W. Meijer, J. Mater. Chem. 19 (1) (2009) 124-130, https://doi.org/10.1039/ b816418e.
- [156] P. Terech, G. Clavier, H. Bouas-Laurent, J.P. Desvergne, B. Demé, J.L. Pozzo, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 302 (2) (2006) 633-642, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcis.2006.06.056
- [157] B. Escuder, I.F. Miravet, Langmuir 22 (18) (2006) 7793–7797, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la060499w.
- [158] A.R. Hirst, I.A. Coates, T.R. Boucheteau, J.F. Miravet, B. Escuder, V. Castelletto, I. W. Hamley, D.K. Smith, J. Am, Chem, Soc, 130 (28) (2008) 9113-9121, https:// doi.org/10.1021/ja801804c.
- [159] P. Terech, R.G. Weiss, Chem. Rev. 97 (8) (1997) 3133-3159, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/cr9700282
- [160] J. Xu, L. Zhang, D. Li, J. Bao, Z. Wang, ACS Omega 5 (2020) 9839-9845, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b04501.
- [161] P. Gullapalli, J.-S. Tsau, J. Heller, in: SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, Society of Petroleum Engineers, San Antonio, Texas, 1995, p. 13.
- [162] I.H. Paik, D. Tapriyal, R.M. Enick, A.D. Hamilton, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 46 (18) (2007) 3284-3287, https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200604844.
- [163] D.K. Dandge, C. Taylor, J.P. Heller, K.V. Wilson, N. Brumley, J. Macromol. Sci. Part A - Chem. 26 (10) (1989) 1451-1464, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00222338908052062.
- [164] K.P. Johnston, Supercritical Fluid Science and Technology, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1989.
- [165] J. Lee, A. Dhuwe, S.D. Cummings, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, M. Doherty, M. O'Brien, R. Perry, Y. Soong, J. Fazio, T.R. McClendon, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2016) 1–21.
- [166] R.M. Enick, Soc. Pet. Eng. 1 (1991) 149-156, SPE 21016..
- [167] R. Taylor, G. Funkhouser, R. Dusterhoff, R. Lestz, CO2 miscible optimized hydrocarbon blends and methods of using  $CO_2$  miscible optimized hydrocarbon blends. WO 2005/083032 A1, 2004.
- R.S. Taylor, A. Cheng, S. Stadnyk, G.P. Funkhouser, G.C. Fyten, A. Lemieux, J. Can. Pet. Technol. 44 (5) (2005) 16–20. [168]
- [169] R.S. Taylor, G. Fyten, R. Romanson, G. Mcintosh, R. Litun, D. Munn, B. Bennion, M. Piwowar, O. Hoch, J. Can. Pet. Technol. 49 (12) (2010) 28-36.
- [170] R.S. Taylor, R.S. Lestz, D. Loree, G.P. Funkhouser, G. Fyten, D. Attaway, H. Watkins, in: Canadian International Petroleum Conference (57th Annual Technical Meeting), Alberta, Canada, Calgary, 2006, pp. 1-7.
- [171] M. George, G.P. Funkhouser, R.G. Weiss, Langmuir 24 (6) (2008) 3537-3544. [172] S. Wo, F. De Campo, Process for the preparation of highly purified, dialkyl phosphinic acids, US 7,049.463 B2 (2006).
- [173] J. Wang, M. Xie, X. Liu, S. Xu, J. Vis. Exp. 2017 (128) (2017) 1-7, https://doi. org/10 3791/56156
- [174] L. Zhang, G. Jian, M. Puerto, X. Wang, Z. Chen, C. Da, K. Johnston, G. Hirasaki, S. L. Biswal, Energy and Fuels 34 (12) (2020) 15727-15735, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c02048.

- [175] A.F. Ibrahim, A. Emrani, H. Nasraldin, A. Texas, Carbon Management Technology Conference, Texas, USA, Houston, 2017, pp. 17–20.
- [176] D. Xing, B. Wei, W. Mclendon, R. Enick, S. McNulty, K. Trickett, A. Mohamed, S. Cummings, J. Eastoe, S. Rogers, D. Crandall, B. Tennant, T. Mclendon, V. Romanov, Y. Soong, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 129907 (December) (2012) 1172–1185.
- [177] M. Sagir, M. Mushtaq, M.S. Tahir, M.B. Tahir, A.R. Shaik, Surfactants for Enhanced Oil Recovery Applications, Springer Nature Switzerland AG, 2020.
- [178] G.S. Valasques, A.M.P. dos Santos, L.S.G. Teixeira, U.M.F. da Mata Cerqueira, V. S. de Souza, M.A. Bezerra, Appl. Spectrosc. Rev. 52 (8) (2017) 729–753, https://doi.org/10.1080/05704928.2017.1294599.
- [179] C. Da, G. Jian, S. Alzobaidi, J. Yang, S.L. Biswal, G.J. Hirasaki, K.P. Johnston, Energy and Fuels 32 (12) (2018) 12259–12267, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. energyfuels.8b02959.
- [180] A.S. Elhag, C. Da, Y. Chen, N. Mukherjee, J.A. Noguera, S. Alzobaidi, P.P. Reddy, A.M. AlSumaiti, G.J. Hirasaki, S.L. Biswal, Q.P. Nguyen, K.P. Johnston, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 522 (2018) 151–162, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.03.037.
- [181] C. Negin, S. Ali, Q. Xie, Petroleum 3 (2) (2017) 197–211, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petlm.2016.11.007.
- [182] B. Li, Q. Zhang, S. Li, Z. Li, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 159 (February) (2017) 25–34, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.09.029.
- [183] J. Peach, J. Eastoe, Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 10 (2014) 1878–1895, https://doi. org/10.3762/bjoc.10.196.
- [184] M. Sagir, I.M. Tan, M. Mushtaq, S.H. Talebian, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2014) 1–8. SPE-172189-MS.
- [185] X. Sun, X. Liang, S. Wang, Y. Lu, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 119 (2014) 104–111, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2014.04.017.
- [186] Y. Zhang, Y. Feng, Y. Wang, X. Li, Langmuir (2013) 4187–4192, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la400051a.
- [187] Z. Yang, S. He, Y. Fang, Y. Zhang, J. Agric. Food Chem. 69 (2021) 3094–3102, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c07466.
- [188] J. Wang, M. Liang, Q. Tian, Y. Feng, H. Yin, G. Lu, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 523 (2018) 65-74, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.03.090.
- [189] J. Eastoe, S. Gold, D.C. Steytler, Langmuir 22 (22) (2006) 9832-9842.
- [190] W.J. Mclendon, P. Koronaios, S. Mcnulty, R.M. Enick, G. Biesmans, A. Miller, L. Salazar, Y. Soong, V. Romanov, D. Crandall, Soc. Pet. Eng. (2012) 1–26, SPE 154205.
- [191] M. Sagisaka, S. Ono, C. James, A. Yoshizawa, A. Mohamed, F. Guittard, S.E. Rogers, R.K. Heenan, C. Yan, J. Eastoe, Langmuir 31 (27) (2015) 7479–7487, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b01737.
- [192] Y. Wang, C. Fei, Y. Zhang, Z. Chu, Y. Feng, Soft Matter 9 (2013) 6217–6221, https://doi.org/10.1039/c3sm50913c.
- [193] J. Eastoe, S. Gold, S. Rogers, P. Wyatt, D.C. Steytler, A. Gurgel, R.K. Heenan, X. Fan, E.J. Beckman, R.M. Enick, Angew Chem. Int 2 (2006) 3675–3677, https:// doi.org/10.1002/anie.200600397.
- [194] T.A. Hoefling, D.A. Newman, R.M. Enick, E.J. Beckman, J. Supercrit. Fluids (6) (1993) 165–71. 0896-8446/93/0603-0165\$5.00/0.
- [195] S. Cummings, D. Xing, R. Enick, S. Rogers, R. Heenan, J. Eastoe, Soft Matter 8 (2012) 7044–7055, https://doi.org/10.1039/c2sm25735a.
- [196] K. Trickett, D. Xing, R. Enick, J. Eastoe, M.J. Hollamby, K.J. Mutch, S.E. Rogers, R. K. Heenan, D.C. Steytler, Langmuir 26 (1) (2010) 83–88, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la902128g.
- [197] A. Mohamed, M. Sagisaka, M. Hollamby, S.E. Rogers, R.K. Heenan, R. Dyer, J. Eastoe, Langmuir 28 (1) (2012) 6299-6306, https://doi.org/10.1021/ la3005322.
- [198] A. Mohamed, M. Sagisaka, F. Guittard, S. Cummings, A. Paul, S.E. Rogers, R.K. Heenan, R. Dyer, J. Eastoe, Langmuir 27 (2011) 10562–10569, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la2021885.
- [199] P. Zhang, Y. Diao, Y. Shan, S. Pei, S. Ren, L. Zhang, H. Yang, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 184 (66) (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2019.106511.
- [200] P. Zhang, G. Bai, G. Cui, L. Zhang, X. Peng, S. Pei, J. Pet, Sci. Eng. 179 (January) (2019) 266–275, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2019.04.070.
   [201] X. Wu, Y. Zhang, X. Sun, Y. Huang, C. Dai, M. Zhao, Fuel 229 (May) (2018) 79–
- [201] X. Wu, Y. Zhang, X. Sun, Y. Huang, C. Dai, M. Zhao, Fuel 229 (May) (2018) 79– 87, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2018.04.081.
- [202] X. Fan, V.K. Potluri, M.C. Mcleod, Y. Wang, J. Liu, R.M. Enick, A.D. Hamilton, C. B. Roberts, J.K. Johnson, E.J. Beckman, J. AM. CHEM. SOC 127 (11) (2005) 11754–11762, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja052037v.
- [203] J. Eastoe, A. Dupont, D.C. Steytler, M. Thorpe, A. Gurgel, R.K. Heenan, J. OfColloid Interface Sci. 258 (2003) 367–373, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9797 (02) 00104-2.
- [204] J. Eastoe, G. Fragneto, B.H. Robinson, T.F. Towey, R.K. Heenan, F.J. Leng, J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 88 (3) (1992) 461–471, https://doi.org/10.1039/ FT9928800461.
- [205] J. Eastoe, T.F. Towey, B.H. Robinson, J. Williams, R.K. Heenan, J. Phys. Chem 7 (1993) 1459–1463.
- [206] J. Eastoe, A. Paul, S. Nave, D.C. Steytler, B.H. Robinson, E. Rumsey, M. Thorpe, R.K. Heenan, C. Didcot, O.X. Uk, J. Am. Chem. Soc 123 (5) (2001) 988–989.
- [207] S. Cummings, R. Enick, S. Rogers, R. Heenan, J. Eastoe, Biochimie 94 (1) (2012) 94–100, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2011.06.021.
- [208] D. Li, S. Ren, P. Zhang, L. Zhang, Y. Feng, Y. Jing, Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 120 (66) (2017) 113–120, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2017.02.010.
- [209] R.F. Li, W. Yan, S. Liu, O. Oil, G.J. Hirasaki, C.A. Miller, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 113910 (March) (2010) 934–948.
- [210] L. Sun, B. Bai, B. Wei, W. Pu, P. Wei, D. Li, C. Zhang, Fuel 241 (September 2018) (2019) 83–93, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2018.12.016.

- [211] C. Da, S. Alzobaidi, G. Jian, L. Zhang, S.L. Biswal, G.J. Hirasaki, K.P. Johnston, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 166 (November 2018) (2017) 880–890, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.petrol.2018.03.071.
- [212] M.A. Almobarky, Z. Al Yousef, D. Schechter, A. Texas, Carbon Manag. Technol. Conf. This (2017) 1–19. CMTC-486486-MS.
- [213] A.S. Elhag, Y. Chen, P.P. Reddy, J.A. Noguera, A. Marie, G.J. Hirasaki, Q.P. Nguyen, S.L. Biswal, K.P. Johnston, Energy Procedia 63 (2014) 7709–7716, micelles and microemulsions.
- [214] J. Zhou, M. Srivastava, R. Hahn, A. Inouye, V. Dwarakanath, SPE J. SPE-200315 (2020) 1–19. SPE-200315-MS.
- [215] C.S. Boeije, W.R. Rossen, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 171 (2018) 843–853, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2018.08.017.
- [216] Z.P. Alcorn, M.A. Fern, A. Barrabino, T. Holt, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 196 (May 2020) (2021), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107651.
- [217] M.A. Almobarky, Z. Alyousif, D. Schechter, Pet. Sci. 17 (4) (2020) 1025–1036, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12182-020-00437-x.
- [218] A.U. Rognmo, N. Al-Khayyat, S. Heldal, I. Vikingstad, Eide, S.B. Fredriksen, Z.P. Alcorn, A. Graue, S.L. Bryant, A.R. Kovscek, M.A. Fernø, SPE J. 25 (1) (2020) 406–15. 10.2118/191318-PA.
- [219] R.S. Kumar, R. Goswami, K.R. Chaturvedi, T. Sharma, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28 (38) (2021) 53578–53593, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-14570-6.
- [220] T.B. Taha, A.A. Barzinjy, F.H.S. Hussain, T. Nurtayeva, Memories Mater Devices, Circuits Syst. 2 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. memori.2022.100011.
- [221] A. Safaei, F. Esmaeilzadeh, A. Sardarian, S. Maryam, X. Wang, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 184 (September 2020) (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2019.106530.
- [222] A. Gandomkar, M. Sharif, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. petrol.2020.107491.
- [223] C. Fua, J. Yub, N. Liua, Fuel 234 (2018) 809–813, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.fuel.2018.06.123.
- [224] Y. Long, S. Yuan, Y. Wang, X. Xie, Polymer (Guildf). 143 (2018) 69–78, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2018.04.009.
- [225] K. Yu, K. Qian, J. Nanoparticle Res. 15 (November) (2013) 1–11, https://doi. org/10.1007/s11051-013-1816-x.
- [226] A.F. Ibrahim, H.A. Nasr-el-din, S.P.E. Reserv, Eval. Eng. (2019) 1-17.
- [227] M. Ji, X. Chen, C.M. Wai, J.L. Fulton, J. Am. Chem. Soc 121 (11) (1999) 2631– 2632.
- [228] A.E. Bayat, K. Rajaei, R. Junin, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 511 (2016) 222-231, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2016.09.083.
- [229] X. Sun, Y. Zhang, G. Chen, Z. Gai, Energies 345 (10) (2017) 1–33, https://doi. org/10.3390/en10030345.
- [230] H.A. Yousefvand, A. Jafari, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 162 (2018) 283–291, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2017.09.078.
- [231] Z.A. Al Yousef, M.A. Almobarky, D.S. Schechter, J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 10 (2) (2020) 439–445, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-019-0695-9.
- [232] D. Du, X. Zhang, Y. Li, D. Zhao, F. Wang, Z. Sun, J. Nat. Gas Sci. Eng. 75 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jngse.2019.103140.
- [233] M. Almubarak, Z. AlYousef, M. Almajid, T. Almubarak, J.H. Ng, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE-202790 (2020) 1–17.
- [234] J. Binshan, F. Tailiang, M. Mingxue, China Particuol. 4 (1) (2006) 41–46.
- [235] B. Ju, T. Fan, Z. Li, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 86–87 (2012) 206–216, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2012.03.022.
- [236] R. Shah, D. Rusheet, Proc. SPE Annu. Tech. Conf. Exhib. 7 (October) (2009) 4784–95. 10.2118/129539-stu.
- [237] J. Zhang, S. Meng, H. Liu, X. Lv, R. Zhang, B. Yu, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE/IATMI Asia Pacific Oil Gas Conf Exhib. APOGCE 2015 (2015) 1–9, https://doi.org/10.2118/ 176221-ms.
- [238] R. Khaledialidusti, A.K. Mishra, A. Barnoush, J. Chem. Phys. 149 (22) (2018) 224702 (1-14). 10.1063/1.5053571.
- [239] G. Gallo, E. Erdmann, S.P.E. Lat, Am. Caribb. Pet. Eng. Conf. Proc. (2017) 1-10, https://doi.org/10.2118/185607-ms.
- [240] E. Mahdavi, R. Khaledialidusti, A. Barnoush, J. Mol. Liq. 289 (2019), https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111037.
- [241] G.P. Hild, R.K. Wackowski, S.P.E. Reserv, Eval. Eng. 2 (2) (1999) 196–204, https://doi.org/10.2118/56008-PA.
- [242] O.K. Karaoguz, N.N. Topguder, R.H. Lane, U. Kalfa, D. Celebloglu, S.P.E. Reserv, Eval. Eng. 10 (2) (2007) 164–175, https://doi.org/10.2118/89400-pa.
- [243] M. Lantz, G. Muniz, Proc. SPE Symp. Improv. Oil Recover. 1 (April) (2014) 597-612. 10.2118/169072-ms.
- [244] J.P. Heller, D.A. Boone, R.J. Watts, SPE East. Reg. Meet. 1985-Novem (1985) 275-88. 10.2118/14519-ms.
- [245] T.M. Jonas, S.I. Chou, S.L. Vasicek, Proc. SPE Annu. Tech. Conf. Exhib. SPE 20468 (1990) 79–92, https://doi.org/10.2523/20468-ms.
- [246] S.I. Chou, S.L. Vasicek, D.L. Pisio, D.E. Jasek, J.A. Goodgame, S.P.E. Annu, Tech. Conf. Exhib. SPE 24643 (1992) 129–140, https://doi.org/10.2523/24643-ms.
- [247] F.D. Martin, J.E. Stevens, K.J. Harpole, SPE Reserv. Eng. (Society Pet. Eng. 10 (4) (1995) 266–72. 10.2118/27786-pa.
- [248] M.L. Hoefner, E.M. Evans, SPE Reserv. Eng. (Society Pet. Eng. 10 (4) (1995) 273-81. 10.2118/27787-PA.
- [249] A.W. Sanders, R.M. Jones, M. Linroth, Q.P. Nguyen, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 160016 1–13 (2012) SPE 160016.
- [250] Z.P. Alcorn, T. Føyen, B. Sintef, L. Zhang, Improved Oil Recovery, Vol. SPE-200450, 2020.
- [251] O.K. Karaoguz, N.N. Topguder, R.H. Lane, U. Kalfa, D. Celebioglu, SPE DOE Improv Oil Recover. Symp. Proc. SPE 89400 (2004) 1–16, https://doi.org/ 10.2523/89400-ms.

E.X. Ricky, G.C. Mwakipunda, E.E. Nyakilla et al.

- [252] J. Mukherjee, Q.P. Nguyen, J. Scherlin, P. Vanderwal, P. Rozowski, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE-179635 (Sheng 2013) (2016) 1–16. SPE-179635-MS.
- [253] J. Mukherjee, S.O. Norris, Q.P. Nguyen, J.M. Scherlin, P.G. Vanderwal, S. Abbas, Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE-169166 (September 2013) (2014). SPE-169166-MS.
- [254] M. Sagir, S.H. Talebian, J. Pet. Sci. Eng. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. petrol.2019.106789.
- [255] E.E. Said-Galiyev, I.V. Pototskaya, Y.S. Vygodskii, Polym. Sci. 46 (1) (2004) 2124–2139.
- [256] S. Cai, Study of CO<sub>2</sub> mobility control using cross-linked gel conformance control and CO<sub>2</sub> viscosifiers in heterogeneous media., Doctoral dissertation, A&M University, Texas, 2011.
- [257] C. Dai, P. Liu, M. Gao, Z. Liu, C. Liu, Y. Wu, X. Wang, S. Liu, M. Zhao, H. Yan, J. Mol. Liq. 360 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.molliq.2022.119563.
- [258] B. Liu, Y. Wang, L. Liang, Y. Zeng, RSC Adv. 11 (2021) 17197–17205, https:// doi.org/10.1039/D1RA02069B.

- [259] Y. Wang, Q. Li, W. Dong, Q. Li, F. Wang, H. Bai, R. Zhanga, A.B. Owusua, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 39787–39796, https://doi.org/10.1039/c8ra06430j.
- [260] V.K. Potluri, J. Xu, R. Enick, E. Beckman, A.D. Hamilton, Org. Lett. 4 (14) (2002) 2333–2335, https://doi.org/10.1021/ol026007y.
- [261] J. Xu, R.M. Enick, in: Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Louisiana, New Orleans, 2001, pp. 1–7.
- [262] A. Singh, K.R. Chaturvedi, T. Sharma, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (5) (2021), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2021.106231.
- [263] A.N. El-hoshoudy, S.M. Desouky, A.M. Attia, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 118 (2018) 1614–1626, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.07.009.
   [264] P. Raveendran, S.L. Wallen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (25) (2002) 7274–7275,
- [264] P. Raveendran, S.L. Wallen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (25) (2002) 7274–7275, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja025508b.
- [265] W. Sun, B. Sun, Y. Li, H. Fan, Y. Gao, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 34567–34573, https:// doi.org/10.1039/C7RA06041F.
- [266] S. Afra, M. Alhosani, A. Firoozabadi, Int. J. Greenh. Gas Control 125 (2023) 103888, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijggc.2023.103888.